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Defendant FCA US LLC (“FCA US”), pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446 and 1453, 

hereby removes this case to this Court.  As set forth below, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).   

I.  BACKGROUND 

1. On August 11, 2020, Brian Garlough (“Plaintiff”) filed a Class Action Complaint in 

the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Joaquin, where it is known and 

numbered as Brian Garlough, et al. v. FCA US LLC, Case No. STK-CV-UBC-2020-6595 (“the State 

Court Action”). 

2. FCA US was served with process and a copy of the original Complaint in the State 

Court Action on August 19, 2020.  A copy of the summons and Complaint served on FCA US are 

attached hereto as Exhibit A.  On August 27, 2020, Plaintiff filed his First Amended Complaint 

(“FAC”) in the State Court Action.  FCA US was served with a copy of the FAC in the State Court 

Action on September 3, 2020.  A copy of the FAC is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  No other 

pleadings, process, or orders have been served on FCA US.   

A. Allegations In The Complaint. 

3. Plaintiff, who is a resident of California, alleges that he purchased a model-year 2018 

Dodge Challenger SRT Demon (“Class Vehicle” or “Dodge Demon”) in the summer of 2018.  FAC, 

¶¶ 2, 8, 24.  He avers that he paid over $100,000 for the vehicle.  Id. 

4. According to Plaintiff, the Class Vehicles suffer from a “Hood Scoop Defect” that 

causes the vehicles’ paint to chip and their hoods to warp.  Id. at ¶¶ 16, 19, 24. 

5. Plaintiff alleges FCA US “knew or should have known about the Hood Scoop 

Defect” but delayed repairs and, ultimately, offered an insufficient repair detrimental to the vehicles’ 

long-term value.  Id. at ¶¶ 21-31.  

6. Plaintiff further avers that FCA US “falsely advertised and promoted” that Class 

Vehicles “came standard with 840 horsepower” when they “actually came standard with 808 

horsepower.”  Id. at ¶¶ 37, 39. 

7. Plaintiff seeks to represent a class consisting of “all persons in the United States and 

its Territories who, during the applicable Class Period [March 1, 2018 through the date of trial] 
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owned or leased any new or used Class Vehicle [a model-year 2018 Dodge Demon] in California.”  

Id. at ¶¶ 4, 32. 

8. On behalf of himself and the members of the putative class, Plaintiff seeks, inter alia, 

the following: (i) restitution, (ii) injunctive and equitable relief, (iii) reasonable attorneys’ fees and 

costs, (iv) revocation, (v) “overpayment or diminution in value” damages, (vi) civil penalties equal 

to twice the damages, (vii) “disgorgement of all profits and unjust enrichment [FCA US] . . .  

obtained . . . as a result of its unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business practices,” (viii) 

“compensatory damages,” (ix) “exemplary damages,” (x) “pre-judgment and post-judgment 

interest,” and (xi) “an order prohibiting Defendants from engaging in the unlawful act described [in 

the Complaint].”  Id. at ¶¶ 41, 42, 51, 57-58, 66, 75, 85, 109, p. 24 (Prayer for Relief). 

9. Plaintiff pleads claims for:  violation of California’s False Advertising Law, Business 

& Professions Code § 17500, et seq. (Count I);  violation of the California Consumer Legal 

Remedies Act, Civil Code § 1750, et seq. (Count II); violation of express warranty under the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, Civil Code § 1790, et seq. (“Song-Beverly Act”) (Count III); 

violation of implied warranty under the Song-Beverly Act, Civil Code § 1790, et seq. (Count IV); 

violation of the California Unfair Competition Law, Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

(Count V); violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq. (Count VI); 

breach of express warranty (Count VII); fraudulent concealment (Count VIII); negligent 

misrepresentation (Count IX); and unjust enrichment (Count X).  See id. at ¶¶ 35-109. 

B. Facts Related To the Number of Putative Class Members and Amount In Controversy. 

10. FCA US’s records reflect that 380 model-year 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon 

vehicles were purchased in California. 

11. According to Plaintiff, the vehicles had a suggested retail price of $85,000, but many 

putative class members spent “well over $100,000 to ultimately purchase” one of the vehicles.  See 

FAC, ¶ 18. 

II.  GROUNDS FOR REMOVAL 

12. This Court has jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), which is 

commonly referred to as the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”). 
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13. Pursuant to CAFA, when the number of putative class members exceeds 100, this 

Court has original jurisdiction over “any civil action in which the matter in controversy exceeds the 

sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and is a class action in which . . . any 

member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different from any defendant.”  28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(d)(2).   

14. “A defendant’s notice of removal need include only a plausible allegation that the 

amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional threshold.”  Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., 

LLC v. Owens, 574 U.S. 81, 135 S.Ct. 547, 551 (2014); see also Avila v. Rue21, Inc., 432 F.Supp.3d 

1175, 1183 (E.D.Cal. 2020). 

15. Plaintiff is a citizen of the state of California.  See FAC, ¶ 8.  FCA US, a limited 

liability company, is a citizen of the State of Delaware, under whose laws it was organized, and the 

State of Michigan, where its principal place of business is located.  Id. at ¶ 9.  Thus, CAFA’s 

minimal diversity requirements are satisfied.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A). 

16. There are more than 100 putative class members.  The class is defined to include “all 

persons in the United States and its Territories who, during the applicable Class Period, owned or 

leased any new or used Class Vehicle in California.”  FAC, ¶ 32.  The putative class includes at least 

380 members.   

17. The amount put into controversy by Plaintiff far exceeds the sum or value of 

$5,000,000, exclusive of interest or costs.  Plaintiff paid over $100,000 for his vehicle.  Id. at ¶ 24.  

He alleges that the suggested retail price for Class Vehicles was $85,000, but that “many” 

consumers, like him, paid over $100,000.  Id. at ¶ 18.  His claims are premised on the notion that, 

had consumers known the about the vehicles’ “hood scoop” defect and actual horsepower, they 

would not have purchased the vehicles.  Id. at ¶¶ 37-39.  He avers that because of this, he and class 

members have the right to revoke acceptance of their $85,000 - $100,000 vehicles, meaning that 

there is between $32 million and $38 million in controversy on that claim alone.  See FAC, ¶ 66. 

18. Plaintiff seeks other relief as well, making clear that the amount in controversy is 

satisfied.  Plaintiff avers that the “future use, value, and/or safety” of the Class Vehicles are 

“substantially impair[ed]” and that class members are entitled to “diminution in value” damages for 
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the “substantial[]” impairment.  See id. at ¶¶ 64-66.  Even if this “diminution in value” were only 

15% of the price paid for the Class Vehicles, the amount in controversy would be approximately 

$5.7 million ($100,000 x 15% x 380 = $5.7 million), and on top of that, Plaintiff seeks civil penalties 

equal to double actual damages (making the $5.7 million figure $11.4 million), plus restitution, 

attorneys’ fees, disgorgement of profits, exemplary damages, and pre and post-judgment interest.  Id. 

at ¶¶ 41, 42, 51, 57-58, 66, 75, 85, 109, p. 24 (Prayer for Relief). 

19. Thus, because there is minimal diversity, greater than 100 putative class members, 

and the matter in controversy exceeds the sum of $5,000,000, this Court has jurisdiction under 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).1 

20. No statutory exception to CAFA jurisdiction applies in this case. 

III.  REMOVAL IS PROPER AND TIMELY 

21. This Notice of Removal is filed within thirty days of August 19, 2020, the date on 

which FCA US was first served with a summons and the Complaint.  Thus, it is timely filed.  See 18 

U.S.C. § 1446(b)(1).  

22. FCA US will promptly file a copy of this Notice of Removal with the clerk of the 

Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Joaquin, and provide written notice of the 

removal to all counsel of record. 

23. The United States District Court for the Eastern District of California embraces the 

county and court in which Plaintiff filed this case.  28 U.S.C. § 84.  Therefore, this action is properly 

removed to this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).  

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                 
1In Dart Cherokee, the Supreme Court made clear that a defendant who removes a case to 

federal court does not have to submit evidence proving that the amount-in-controversy requisite of 
CAFA jurisdiction is satisfied until and unless the plaintiff or the court challenges the defendant’s 
position, at which point “both sides submit proof and the court decides, by a preponderance of the 
evidence, whether the amount-in-controversy requirement has been satisfied.”  135 S.Ct. at 554.  
Here, FCA US stands ready and willing to provide declaratory proof of the amount in controversy if 
the Court deems it necessary. 
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WHEREFORE, the above described action now pending against FCA US LLC in the 

Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Joaquin, is removed to the United States 

District Court for the Eastern District of California. 

DATED:  September 18, 2020 DONAHUE • DAVIES LLP

By:   /s/ Robert E. Davies

Robert E. Davies 
Mary A. Stewart 
Attorneys for Defendant 
FCA US LLC

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Defendant FCA US LLC hereby demands trial by jury. 

DATED:  September 18, 2020 DONAHUE • DAVIES LLP

By:   /s/ Robert E. Davies

Robert E. Davies 
Mary A. Stewart 
Attorneys for Defendant 
FCA US LLC
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Service of Process
Transmittal
08/19/2020
CT Log Number 538121980

TO: Melissa Gravlin
Fca US LLC
1000 Chrysler Dr Ofc of
Auburn Hills, MI 48326-2766

RE: Process Served in California

FOR: FCA US LLC  (Domestic State: DE)

Page 1 of  1 / KA

Information displayed on this transmittal is for CT
Corporation's record keeping purposes only and is provided to
the recipient for quick reference. This information does not
constitute a legal opinion as to the nature of action, the
amount of damages, the answer date, or any information
contained in the documents themselves. Recipient is
responsible for interpreting said documents and for taking
appropriate action. Signatures on certified mail receipts
confirm receipt of package only, not contents.

ENCLOSED ARE COPIES OF LEGAL PROCESS RECEIVED BY THE STATUTORY AGENT OF THE ABOVE COMPANY AS FOLLOWS:
    
TITLE OF ACTION: Brian Garlough, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Pltf. vs. FCA US LLC, etc., et al., Dfts.

DOCUMENT(S) SERVED: Summons, Class Action Complaint, Demand, Notice

COURT/AGENCY: San Joaquin County - Superior Court - Stockton, CA
Case # STKCVUBC20206595

NATURE OF ACTION: Product Liability Litigation - Lemon Law - 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon

ON WHOM PROCESS WAS SERVED: C T Corporation System, Los Angeles, CA

DATE AND HOUR OF SERVICE: By Process Server on 08/19/2020 at 12:21

JURISDICTION SERVED : California

APPEARANCE OR ANSWER DUE: Within 30 days after service (Document(s) may contain additional answer dates)

ATTORNEY(S) / SENDER(S): Connor W. Olson
Law Offices of Connor W. Olson
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150
Sacramento, CA 95814
916-905-7276

REMARKS: Please Note: VIN Number is not given in the documents

ACTION ITEMS: CT has retained the current log, Retain Date: 08/20/2020, Expected Purge Date:
08/25/2020

Image SOP

Email Notification,  Lance Arnott  SOPVerification@wolterskluwer.com

SIGNED: C T Corporation System
ADDRESS: 1999 Bryan St Ste 900

Dallas, TX 75201-3140

For Questions: 877-564-7529
MajorAccountTeam2@wolterskluwer.com
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PROCESSZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA SERVER DELIVERY DETAILS

Wed, Aug 19, 2020Date;

Jim SandsServer Name:

Sylmar, CA-LALocation:

FCA US LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANYEntity Served

Agent Name

Case Number STK-CV-UBC-2020-6595

Jurisdiction CA-LA
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SUM-100A
S ' F . t i R - . C O U R T U S E B N L f t ’ ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA T M 

( S O L O  P A I ? A  U S . e  D E  L A  C P R T S y

SUfVIIVIONS 

(CITACION JUDICIAL)
<

o
.V

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT:
(AVISO AL DEMANDADO):

F G A  U S  L L C , a D elaw are lim ited  liab ility  com pany  and  D O E S I 

th ro iig li 250 , inc lusive

YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF:

(LO ESTA DEMANDANDO el  DEMANDANTE):

BR IAN  G A RLO U GH , ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  all o thers sim ilarly  

situa ted

g? -
fDOo/V .V
Q.

I*?
o
CO -n

By_
D A N l E i i ^ ^

L ; '

<.
n  .

CB

NOTICEI You have been sued. The court may decide against you without your being heard unless you respond within 30 days. Read the information 
below.

You have 30 CALENDAR DAYS after this summons and legal papers are served on you to file a written response at this court ang have a copy 
served on the plaintiff. A letter or phone call will not protect you. Your written response must be in proper legal form if you want the court to hear your 
case. There may be a court form that you can use for your response. You can find these court forms and more information at the California Courts 
Online S e \ f - H e \ p  C e n l e r i w w w . c o u r l i n f o . c a . g o v / s e l f h e l p ) .  your county law library, or the courthouse nearest you. If you cannot pay the filing fee, ask 
the court clerk for a fee waiver form. If you do not file your response on lime, you may lose the case by default, and your wages, money, and property 

taken without further warning from the court.
There are other legal requirements. You may want to call an allorney right away. If you do not know an attorney, you may want to call an attorney 

referral service. If you cannot afford an attorney, you may be eligible for free legal services from a nonprofit legal services program. You can locale 
these nonprofit groups at the California Legal Services V/eb site { w w w . l a w h e l p c a l i f o r n i a . o r g ) ,  the California Courts Online Self-Help Center 
( w w w . c o u r t i n f o . c a . g o v / s e l f l w l p ) ,  or by contacting your local court or county bar association. NOTE: The court has a statutory lien for waived fees and 
costs on any settlement or arbitration award of $10,000 or more in a civil case. The court’s lien must be paid before the court will dismiss the case.
!AVISO! L o  h a n  d e m a n d a d o .  S i  n o  l e s p o n d e  d e n t r o  d e  3 0  d i a s ,  l a  c o d e  p u e d e  d e c i d i r  e n  s u  c o n t i a  s i n  e s c u c h a r s u  v e r s i d n .  L e a  l a  i n f o r m a c i d n  a  
c o n t i n u a c i d n .

T i e n e  3 0  D i A S  D E  C A L E N D A R I O  d e s p u d s  d e  q u e  l e  e n t r e g u e n  e s t a  c i t a c i d n  y  p a p e l e s  l e g a t e s  p a r a  p r e s e n t a r  u n a  r e s p u e s t a  p o r  e s c r i t o  e n e s t a  
c o d e  y  h a c e r q u e  s e  e n t r e g u e  u n a  c o p i a  a l  d e m a n d a n t e .  U n a  c a d a  o  u n a  l l a m a d a  t e l e f d n i c a  n o  l o  p m l e g e n .  S u  r e s p u e s t a  p o r  e s c r i t o  t i e n e  q u e  e s t a r  
e n  f o i m a t o  l e g a l  c o r r e c t o  s i  d e s e a  q u e  p m c e s e n  s u c a s o e n  l a  c o d e .  E s  p o s i b l e  q u e  h a y a  u n  f o r m u l a r i o q u e  u s t e d  p u e d a  u s a r p a r a  s u  r e s p u e s t a .  
P u e d e  e n c o n t r a r  e s t o s  f o r m u t a r i o s  d e  l a  c o d e  y  m d s  i n f o r m a c i d n  e n  e l  C e n t r o  d e  A y u d a  d e  l a s  C o d e s  d e  C a l i f o r n i a  fwww.sucorle.ca.gov,), e n  l a  
b i b l i o t e c a  d e  l e y e s  d e  s u  c o n d a d o  o err fa c o d e  q u e  l e  q u e d e  m b s  c e r c a .  S i  n o  p u e d e  p a g a r  l a  c u o t a  d e  p r e s e n t a c i d n ,  p i d a  a !  s e c r e l a i i o  d e  l a  c o d e  
q u e  l e  d o  u n  f o r m u l a r i o  d e  e x e n e i d n  d o  p a g o  d e  c u o t a s .  S i  n o  p r e s e n t a  s u  r e s p u e s t a  a  t i e m p o ,  p u e d e  p c r d c r c l  caso p o r  i n c u m p l i m i e n t o  y  l a  c o d e  l e  
p o d r d  g u i t a r  s u  s u e l d o ,  d i n e r o  y  b i e n e s  s i n  m d s  a d v e d e n c i a .

H a y  o t m s  r e q u i s i t e s  l e g a t e s .  E s  r e c o m e n d a b l e  q u e  l l a m e  a  u n  a b o g a d o  i n m e d i a t a m e n t e .  S i  n o  c o n o c e  a  u n  a b o g a d o ,  p u e d e  l l a m a r  a  u n  s e r v i c i o  d e  
r e m i s i d n  a  a b o g a d o s .  S i  n o  p u e d e  p a g a r  a u n  a b o g a d o ,  e s  p o s i b l e  q u e  c u m p l a  c o n  l o s  l e q u i s i l o s  p a r a  o b t e n e r  s e r v i c i o s  l e g a t e s  g r a t u i t o s  d e  u n  
p r o g r a m a  d e  s e r v i c i o s  l e g a t e s  s i n  f i n e s  d e  l u c r o .  P u e d e  e n c o n t r a r  e s t o s  g i v p o s  s i n  f i n e s  d e  l u c r o  e n  e l  s i t i o  w e b  d e  C a l i f o r n i a  L e g a l  S e i v i c e s ,  
fwvwr.lawhelpcalifornia.org;, e n  e l  C e n t r o  d e  A y u d a  d e  l a s  C o d e s  d e  C a l i f o r n i a ,  fvAvw.sucorte.ca.gov; o p o n i e n d o s e  e n  c o n t a c t o  c o n  l a  c o d e  o e l  
c o l e g i o d e  a b o g a d o s  l o c a l e s .  A V I S O :  P a r l e y ,  l a  c a r t e  t i e n e  d e r e c h o  a r e c l a m a r l a s  c u o t a s  y  l o s  c o s t o s  e x e n t o s  p o r i m p o n e r  u n  g r a v a m e n  s o b r e  
c u a l q u i e r  r e c u p e r a c i d n  d e  $ 1 0 , 0 0 0  6  m b s  d e  v a l o r  r e c i b i d a  m e d i a n t e  u n  a c u e t d o  o  u n a  c o n c e s i d n  d e  a i t i t r a j e  e n  u n  c a s o  d e  d e r e c h o  c i v i l .  T i e n e  q u e  
p a g a r  e l  g r a v a m e n  d e  l a  c o r t e  a n t e s  d e  q u e  l a  c o r t e  p u e d a  d e s e c h a r e l  c a s o .

m

The name and address of the court is:
( E l  n o m b r e  y  d i r e c c i d n  d e  l a  c o d e  e s ) :  San Joaqiiin Superior Court 

180 E Weber Ave 

Stockton, California 95202 

The name,, address, and telephone number of plaintiffs attorney, or plaintiff without an attorney, is:
( E l  n o m b r e ,  l a  d i r e c c i d n  y  e l  n u m e r o  d e  t e l d f o n o  d e l  a b o g a d o  d e l  d e m a n d a n t e ,  o  d e l  d e m a n d a n t e  q u e  n o  t i e n e  a b o g a d o ,  e s ) :  

Connor W. Olson, 520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150, Sacramento, CA 95814, (916) 905-7276

CASE NUMBER: 
( N u m e r o  d e l  C a s o ) :

STK -CV -y0C -2O 2O - lj5^^  S

, Deputy 
( A d j u n t o )

AUG 1 1 2020 BRANDON E. RILEYDATE:
( F e c h a )

Clerk, by 
( S e c r e t a r l o )

DANIELLE JEANDEBIEN
^ - ( F o r  p r o o f  o f  s e r v i c e  o f  t h i s  s u m m o n s ,  u s e  Proof of Service of Summons ( f o r m  P O S - 0 1 0 ) . )  ’

'. ( P ^ r a  p r u e b a  d e  e n t r e g a  d e  e s t a  c i t a t i d n  u s e  e l  f o r m u l a r i o  Proof of Service of Summons, ( P O S - 0 1 0 ) ) .

NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are served 
] as an individual defendant.

2. I I as the person sued under the fictitious name of ( s p e c i f y ) :

ISEALI
1 . [

FCA US LLC
3. )(xxl on behalf of fspecr/y;.’

under: CZ] CCP 416.10 (corporation)
I I CCP 416.20 (defunct corporation)

] CCP 416.60 (minor)

] CCP 416.70 (conservatee)

I I CCP 416.40 (association orpartnership) | | CCP 416.90 (authorized person)

o t h e r  ( s p e c i f y ) . C O R P  CODE 17701.16-LLC 

4. I I b/^rsonal delivery on ( d a t e ) :
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A ttorneys for Plaintiff  and  Putative C lass o‘

6

IN  THE  SUPERIOR  COURT  OF  THE  STATE  OF  CALIFORNIA  

IN  AND  FOR  THE  COUNTY  OF  SAN  JOAQUIN
7

8
STK -CV -U 0>G -2O2O -i47SQ  $>

BR IAN  G ARLOU GH , ind iv idually  and  

on  behalf  of  all o thers sim ilarly  situa ted ,

C ase  N o.:
9

D ate: N /A  

T im e: N /A  

D ept: N /A

10

I 1 P lain tiffs ,

12
U NLIM ITED  C IV IL  CA SE  

CLASS  ACTION  COMPLAINT
13

14 V.

1. False Advertising in  Violation  of 

California Business &  Professions  

Code §§ 17500, et seq.

2. Violation  of  Consumer  Legal 

Remedies Act §§ 1750, et seq.

3 . Violation  of  Express Warrant}' 

Under Song-Beverly  Consumer  

Warranty' Act §§ 1790, etseq.

4. Violation  of  Implied Warranty  

Under Song-Beverly  Consumer  

Warranty Act §§ 1790, et seq.

5. Unfair  Business Practices in  

Violation  of  California  Business &  

Professions Code §§ 17200, etseq.

6. Violation  of  Magnuson-M oss  

Warranty' Act (15  U.S.C . §§  2301, et 

seq.)

1. Breach  of  Express Warranty'

8. Fraudulent Concealm ent

9. Negligent M isrepresentation

10. Unjust Enrichm ent

15

16

FCA  U S  LLC , a D elaw are lim ited  liab ility  

com pany  and  D O ES 1 th rough  250 , inc lusive .
17

18

D efendan ts.

19

20

......21

22

23

24

25

26

27 DEMAND  FOR  JURY  TRIAL

28
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PRELIM INARYZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA STATEMENT1

T h is is  a  C lass  A ction  under  Califo rn ia  Code  of  C iv il Procedure  § 382 , seek ing  

declara to ry re lie f, in junctive re lie f, m onetary dam ages, sta tu to ry and pun itive dam ages, 

equ itab le re lie f, and atto rney  fees and costs, under, inter alia, U nfair Business Practices in  

V io lation of  Califo rn ia Business &  Professions Code §§ 17200 , et seq.. False A dvertising  in  

V io la tion  of  Califo rn ia  Business &  Professions Code §§ 17500 , et seq.. V io lation  of  Express  

W arran ty  under  Song-B everly  Consum er  W arran ty  A ct (C iv il Code  §§ 1790 , etseq). V io lation  

of  Consum er Legal Rem edies A ct (C iv il Code §§ 1750 , et seq.). V io la tion  of  M agnuson-M oss

§§ 2301 , et seq). Fraudu len t Concealm en t, N egligen t

2 1 .

3

4

5

6

7

8

W arran ty A ct (15 U .S .C .9

M isrep resen tation , and  U njust Enrichm en t.

P la in tiff B rian  G arlough  brings th is C lass A ction  against FCA  U SA  LLC  and  

DOES 1 th rough 250 , inc lusive (“D efendan ts”), on behalf of h im self, by and th rough h is  

atto rneys, and  all o ther ow ners  of  the  2018  D odge  Challenger SRT  D em on  (“C lass  V ehic le”  or  

“D odge  D em on”) to  ob tain  re lie f  fo r certa in  m isrep resen ta tions, a  com plete  fa ilu re  to  w arran t,  

and  a  concealed  defect in  the 45-square-inch  “functional”  A ir-G rabber'^ '^  hood  scoop  (“H ood  

Scoop  D efect”), w hich  caused  it to  w arp  and  dam age  the  C lass  V ehic le .

In  “laym en ’s te rm s,”  the  H ood  Scoop  D efect is a  se lf-perpetuating  issue  caused  

by  a  flim sy  in sert tha t expands  and  con trac ts  w hen  the  C lass  V ehic le  is used , w hich  resu lts in  a  

sagg ing , buck ling , bu lg ing , and  v ib ra ting  in sert. This in  tu rn  w arps  the  in sert and  strip s, cracks, 

ch ips, and rusts the orig inal, facto ry  pain t. D ue to the H ood Scoop D efect, D odge D em on  

owners experience costly  repairs , inc lud ing  pain t repairs tha t do  no t m atch  the facto ry  fin ish , 

and /o r  rep lacem en t of  the  en tire  hood , and /o r  rep lacem en t of  the  orig inal hood  scoop  in sert w ith  

a d ifferen t, v isib ly  sm aller one —  all of  w hich  w ill sign ifican tly  im pact the value  and  fu ture  

co llec tab ility  of  the  C lass  V ehic le  since  it w ill no  longer be  considered  “orig inal”  or  “to  fac tory  

specifica tion .” U ltim ately , and  as it stands today . D odge  D em on  ow ners have  been  com pletely  

den ied  the use and  en joym en t of  the C lass V ehic le , m any  of  w hich  w ere purchased  fo r over

10

2.11

12

13

14

15

16

17 3.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

$100,000.27

28
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The  “C lass Period”  is designated  as of  the  tim e  from  M arch 1 , 2018  th rough  the  

date of  the trial and is based  upon  allegations tha t D efendan ts m isrep resen ted  and concealed  

m aterial fac ts , fa iled  to  honor  express and  im p lied  w arran ties, and  con tinued  to  m arket and  se ll 

the D odge D em on  even  after it w as aw are of  H ood  Scoop  D efect. The allegations are based  

upon  personal  know ledge  and  belief  as  to  the ir  ow n  acts, and  upon  in fo rm ation  and  belief  (based  

on investiga tion by P lain tiff, the Puta tive C lass, and Counsel) as to all o ther m atters and  

allegations. P lain tiff believes substan tia l ev iden tiary support ex ists after a reasonab le  

opportun ity  fo r fu rther investiga tion  and  d iscovery  of  ev idence , as fo llow s.

1 4.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8KJIHGFEDCBA

JURISDICTION  AND  V EN U E9

5. This Court has personal ju risd ic tion over D efendan ts pursuan t to Califo rn ia  

Code  of  C iv il Procedure  § 410 .10  and  because  a  substan tia l portion  of  the  w rongdo ing  alleged  

in th is Com plain t took p lace in the S tate of Califo rn ia ; FCA  U S LLC  is au thorized  to do  

business in  the  S tate of  Califo rn ia ; and  FCA  U S  LLC  has  su fficien t m in im um  con tac ts  w ith  the  

S tate of Califo rn ia and /o r o therw ise in ten tionally avails itse lf of the m arkets in the S tate of  

California  th rough  the  production , prom otion , m arketing , and  sa le  of  products and  serv ices in  

th is S tate to render the exerc ise of  ju risd ic tion by th is Court perm issib le under trad itional 

notions  of  fair  p lay  and  substan tia l  ju stice .

6 . This  Court has sub jec t m atter  ju risd iction  over  all the  causes  of  action  alleged  in  

th is C lass A ction  Com plain t pursuan t to  the Califo rn ia  Constitu tion , A rtic le  V I § 10 , and  is a  

Court of  com peten t ju risd ic tion  to  gran t the relie f  requested . P lain tiff and  the Puta tive C lass  

claim s fo r U nfair Business Practices in  V io la tion  of  Califo rn ia  Business &  Professions Code

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

§§ 17200 , et seq.. False  A dvertising  in  V io la tion  of  Californ ia  Business &  Professions  Code  §§  

17500 , et seq.. V io la tion  of  Express  W arran ty  under Song-B everly  Consum er  W arran ty  A ct §§  

1790 , V io la tion  of  Consum er Legal Rem edies A ct §§ 1750 , et seq.. V io lation  of  M agnuson-  

M oss W arran ty A ct (15 U .S .C . §§ 2301 , et seq.). B reach of Express W arran ty , Fraudu len t 

Concealm en t, N egligen t M isrep resen ta tion , and  U njust Enrichm en t either arise under the law  

of  the S tate  of  Califo rn ia , or  are  no t preem pted  by  federa l law , do  no t challenge  conduct w ith in

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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the exclusive dom ain  of  any  federa l agency , and  are  no t sta tu to rily  assigned  to  any  o ther tria l1

2 court.

V enue is proper in  th is Court pursuan t to  C iv il Code of  Procedure sec tions 395  

and  395 .5 . D efendan ts conduct business in  the  County  of  San  Joaqu in . The  in ju ries tha t gave  

rise to th is C lass A ction Com plain t have been susta ined  as a resu lt of D efendan ts ’ illegal  

conduct tha t occurred  in  part in  the County  of  San  Joaqu in .

3 7.

4

5

6KJIHGFEDCBA

PARTIES7

P lain tiff  G arlough  is  at all tim es  alleged  here in  a  citizen  of  the  S tate  of  Califo rn ia.  

H e curren tly  resides in  S tock ton , Califo rn ia. In  2018 , P lain tiff purchased  the D odge D em on  

and  had  it sh ipped  to  h is residence  in  S tock ton , Califo rn ia  in  the  County  of  San  Joaquin .

D efendan ts are a D elaw are corpora tion  w ith its headquarters in  A uburn  H ills , 

M ich igan . FCA  U S  LLC , has tw elve  N orthern  A m erican  Regional Business Centers  and  Parts  

D istribu tions Centers tha t are responsib le fo r all sa les, serv ice, parts , serv ice con trac ts and  

dealer in itia tives, one  of  w hich  is loca ted  in  Los A ngeles.' D efendan ts en tered  in to  a  con trac t 

w ith  Represen ta tive P lain tiff  in  the  County  of  San  Joaqu in  fo r the sa le  of  the  D odge  D em on .

Those D efendan ts iden tified as D O ES 1 th rough 250 , inc lusive, w ere, at all 

tim es herein -m en tioned , business affilia tes, successo rs, officers, d irec to rs, partners, and /o r  

m anag ing  agen ts  of  the  D efendan ts. P lain tiff  is  in fo rm ed  and  believes, and  on  tha t basis, alleges  

tha t, at all tim es here in -m en tioned , each  of  the  D efendan ts identified  as D O ES 1 th rough  250 , 

inc lusive , conduct v io la tes  various  Califo rn ia  consum er  sta tu tes, w arran ty  sta tues, and  com m on

8 8.

9

10

11 9.

12

13

14

15

16 10.

17

18

19

20

21 law.

P lain tiff G arlough is unaw are of the true nam es and capacities of those  

D efendan ts sued  herein  as D O ES 1 th rough  250 , inclusive , and  therefo re sues D efendan ts by  

fic titious nam es. P lain tiff  w ill seek  leave of  court to  am end  th is Com plain t w hen  such  nam es  

are ascerta ined . P lain tiff  is in fo rm ed  and  believes, and , on  tha t basis, alleges tha t each  of  the  

fictitiously -nam ed  D efendan ts is /w as responsib le  in  som e  m anner fo r, gave  consen t to , ratified

22 11 .

23

24

25

26

27

28 I See h ttp s://m ed ia .feanortham erica .com /new sre lease .do?id=866
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and or au thorized the conduct here in alleged and tha t the P lain tiffs and C lass M em bers ’ 

dam ages w ere  prox im ate ly  caused  thereby .

P lain tiff  G arlough  is in fo rm ed  and  believes  and , on  tha t basis, alleges tha t, at all 

tim es here in -m en tioned , each of the D efendan ts w as the agen t and or/the em ployee of the  

rem ain ing  D efendan ts  and , in  do ing  the  acts  here in  alleged , w as  acting  w ith in  the  scope  of  such  

agency  and /o r em ploym en t.

1

2

12 .3

4

5

6KJIHGFEDCBA

FACTUAL  BACKGROUND7

FCA  U S  LLC , is a  N orth  A m erican  au tom aker and  arguab ly  one of  the la rgest8 13 .

9 in  the  w orld .

S tarting  in  2017 , D efendan ts m arketed , produced , and  sh ipped  a  to ta l of  3 ,300  

2018  D odge  Challenger SRT  D em ons to  dealersh ips  th roughou t the  U nited  S tates and  Canada. 

A lthough sim ilar in appearance to o ther D odge Challenger m odels, the C lass V ehic le w as  

m arked ly  d ifferen t in  te rm s of  price  and  fea tu res, as w ell as advertised  capab ilities and  fu ture  

co llec tab ility . A ccord ing to T im  K unisk is, H ead  of  Passenger Cars fo r D odge SRTs: “[t]he  

peop le  w ho  bough t a  Challenger SRT  D em on  are  en thusiasts  to  the  core . . . .

B efo re the C lass V ehic le w as offered  fo r sa le, it w as advertised  on line as “the  

m ost-pow erfu l m uscle car ever w ith 840 horsepow er and  770  pounds-fee t of  to rque from  its  

supercha rged  6 .2 -liter  H EM I®  D em on  V -8  eng ine.”  (Em phasis added.)

10 14.

11

12

13

14

15

16 15.

17

18

19 Demon Unleashed | Challenger SRT® Demon | Dodge

7,651,463 views • Apr 11, 201720 1^ 88K ipi 1.9K AA  SHARE 5=+ SAVE

21

Dodge ®
239K subscribers

22 SUBSCRIBE

23
The new 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT® Demon is the most-powerful muscle car ever with 

840 horsepower and 770 pounds-feet of torque from its supercharged 6.2-liter HEMI® 

Demon V-8 engine.

24

25

F igure 1 : V ideo  D escrip tion  From  Presa le  A dvertisem en ts  

h ttps://w w w .you tube .com /w atch?v=3vD 6A 6N xvSQ
26

27

28 ^ S ee h ttp s://m ed ia .fcanortham erica .com /new sre lease .do?id=18679&m id=

-4-
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In  order to  crea te  th is im pressive  pow er, the  C lass  V ehic le is coo led  in  part by  a16 .1

>>3
specia lly designed  and  tradem arked  45-square-inch “functional A ir-G rabber'^ '^  hood  scoop,  

which, FCA  U S  LLC ’s developm en t eng ineers  “agreed  . . . had  to  m ake  a  sta tem en t and  still be  

very  functional. It had  to  be  bo ld  and  aggressive . . . .

2

3

»44

5

OB6

7

iir  mmn
8

9A
T T

10

11

12 ii:
13

14

15

16

17
F igure  2 ; D odge  Challenger SRT  D em on . Im age  availab le at 

h ttps://w w w .dodge.ca /en d ir/pd f/2018 /b rochures/challenger.pd f18

19 D efendan ts ’ b log  confirm s the  obv ious: the  “D em on’s m ost strik ing  v isual cues  

is  its  m assive  hood  scoop  -  the  la rgest functional hood  scoop  open ing  offered  on  any  production  

car. Positioned  op tim ally  near  the  lead ing  edge  of  the  hood ... P lay ing  on  th is, D efendan ts ’ 

“unique, th ree m onth -teaser cam paign” spen t considerab le tim e prom oting  the one-o f-a-k ind  

hood  scoop  th rough , am ong  o ther th ings, specific , h igh ly -p roduced  on line advertising .®

The  sa le  of  the  C lass  V ehic le  began  in  2018  and  w as accom pan ied  by  num erous  

w arran ties. A lthough  the  C lass  V ehic le  cam e  w ith  an  M SRP  of  approx im ate ly  $85 ,000 , due  to

17 .

20

21

22

23

24 18 .

25

26

^ S ee h ttp s://b log .fcanortham erica.com /2017 /06 /08/crea ting-the-dodge-challenger-srt-dem on-v-8 /

^ See h ttp s://b log .dodge.com /featu res/re-im ag in ing-the-air-g rabber-hood-scoop /index .h tm l

^ h ttp s://b log .dodge.com /featu res/re-im ag in ing-the-a ir-g rabber-hood-scoop /index .h tm l

® h ttp s://w w w .vou tube .com /w atch?v=c zw 62u la4k

27

28

-5-

CLA SS A CT IO N  CO M PLA IN T

Case 2:20-cv-01879-JAM-AC   Document 1   Filed 09/18/20   Page 16 of 70

https://www.dodge.ca/en_dir/pdf/2018/brochures/challenger.pdf
https://blog.fcanorthamerica.com/2017/06/08/creating-the-dodge-challenger-srt-demon-v-8/
https://blog.dodge.com/features/re-imagining-the-air-grabber-hood-scoop/index.html
https://blog.dodge.com/features/re-imagining-the-air-grabber-hood-scoop/index.html
https://www.voutube.com/watch?v=c_zw62ula4k


the fan fare crea ted by the in tense b litzkx ieg -sty led m arketing cam paign , inc lud ing paid -fo r

consum ers across the coun try  

deposited  thousands  of  do llars  to  get a  p lace  in  line , w ith  m any  spend ing  w ell over $100 ,000  to  

u ltim ate ly  purchase  the  “one-o f-a-k ind”  veh ic le .

Shortly  after the C lass V ehic le w as so ld  to  the pub lic, ow ners began  no tic ing  

that the 45-square-inch w ide A ir-G rabber™  hood  scoop  w as sagg ing , buck ling , and  bu lging ,  

w hich  in  tu rn  stripped , cracked , and  ch ipped  the  pain t on  each  C lass  V ehic le ’s hood . A  curso ry  

g lance  of  various car  b logs provides an  illu stration .^

1

»7celeb rity pra ise a la a fea tu re spo t on “Jay Leno ’ G arage,2

3KJIHGFEDCBA

84

5 19 .

6

7

8

9 #5 • Jun 11,2018

Yup, as mentioned in another thread related to this very same topic, I believe the root cause is 

thermal expansion {i.e., different rates of thermal expansion between the hood and plastic scoop 

materials). I have the gphx. pkg. and thanks to this thread, have monitored my hood from day one.

At 29 miles I returned to the dealer to notify my service advisor of a small chip forming in the paint at 

the scoop/hood interface - same place as everyone else. He agreed to note this concern & mileage 

in my account for future reference as I plan to monitor the failure meanwhile hoping FCA announces 

a viable solution. I also agree on the poor paint prep, which only serves to facilitate the rapid paint 

failure after only a few heat cycles. Now at 129 miles the paint damage on my hood hasn't gotten 

much worse than at 29 miles and I attribute this to opening the hood as soon as I return home from 

driving the car to let the engine compartment & hood "breath" so as to limit the time these parts 

heat soak. I did this with my HC’s as well but to relieve the plastic bits & pieces form heat soaking. I 

had black painted satin hoods on two of my HC's and never experienced paint failure around the 

scoop inserts. In addition to the larger surface area of the Demon scoop v. HC, I'll bet the scoop 

material is made from a different polymer...? So like I said, hopefully FCA devises a solution that 

ideally, would include a revised scoop (plug-n-play) that has a lower coefficient of TE and perhaps 

provisions for allowing a limited amount of expansion/vibration via some contoured elastomeric 

interface...

#31 • Jun 22, 2018

My car just showed up with 4 miles and the paint was already scraping off. I took the scoop off, 

sanded and prep it with some ARP satin black touch up paint. I have a black hood so you cant tell 

its missing the scoop from a distance. Im going to keep it off till theres a resolution if any.

#38 • Jul30,2018

Add mine to the list of chipped hoods from the hood scoop. Car has about 1500 miles on it.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24 Any word yet on what dodge is planning on doing?

25

’ S ee h ttD s://w w w .topgear.com /car-new s/b ig -reads/it-m ad-bad-840bhp-dodge-dem on and  

h ttp s://w w w .he llca t.o rg /th read s/dem on-on-iav -leno% E2% 80% 99s-garage .162641 /

See h tlp s://m ed ia.fcanortham erica.com /new sre lease .do?id=l 8304& m id=200  (bu ild ing  on  its exclusiv ity  and  

fu tu re co llec tab ility , D efendan ts nam ed  H agerty  Insu rance, the largest p rov ider o f specialty  insu rance fo r 

co llec tib le veh icles, as the o fficia l in su rance p rov ider o f the C lass V eh ic le.)

® S ee  h ttp s://w w w .hellca t.O rg /th reads/dem on-hood-scoop-p rob lem .210737 /

26
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U n fortunate ly , and desp ite in itia lly ro lling ou t the red carpet to po tentia l 

custom ers w ith exclusive g ifts ,pa id  fo r celeb rity pra ise , and a one-thousand-horsepow er-  

fue led  m arketing  cam paign , D efendan ts all bu t “ghosted”" the D em on  ow ners  at the  first sign  

of ch ipped pain t and  com pletely  fa iled to honor the ir w arran ties. A s a resu lt, ow ners w ere  

fo rced to decide betw een  the use of the ir veh icle or causing  fu rther dam age to the hood  fo r  

w hich  there  w as no  fix .

20.1

2

3

4

5

6

M aking  m atters  w orse. D efendan ts  knew  or  shou ld  have  know n  abou t the  H ood  

Scoop  D efect had  they  adequate ly  rev iew ed  the  veh icle  as w as advertised . A t the  very  least. 

D efendan ts knew  once  they  rece ived  the barrage  of  com plain ts abou t the  issue .

D esp ite the above, and  nearly tw o years after first offering the h ighly  tou ted  

D odge D em on , along w ith its D em on A ir-G rabber’’''^ hood scoop , D efendan ts circu la ted a  

Serv ice Bulle tin  23-033-19 , w hich  calls fo r a  sm aller, non-orig inal hood  scoop  bezel, w hich  is  

the  on ly  part of  the  D em on  A ir-G rabber’’''^ tha t is v isib le  from  the ou tside .

In  sum , the  repair(s) offered  to  the  class of  D em on  ow ners are  no t adequate  and  

rep resen t an in su rm oun tab le departu re from  the veh icle as advertised , w hich itse lf causes  

irreversib le  dam age  to  the  veh ic le ’s fu tu re  co llec tab ility .

21.7

8

9

10 22.

11

12

13

14 23.

15

16KJIHGFEDCBA

FACTS  SPECIFIC  TO  REPRESENTATIVE  PLAINTIFF17

24 . P lain tiff B rian G arlough purchased the D odge D em on  in the sum m er of 2018 , 

spend ing  over $100 ,000 .00 . In  early  A ugust 2018 , after ju st 75 m iles, he no ticed the H ood  

Scoop D efect w hile driv ing the veh icle w ith a friend . M r. G arlough im m edia te ly took the  

Dodge  D em on  to  the  Lodi D odge  D ealersh ip  w ho, after in specting  the  dam aged  hood , to ld  M r. 

G arlough  to  call the  D odge  ho tline  specific  fo r  D efendan ts ’ h igh-end  SRT  veh ic les.

25 . ’W hen M r. G arlough con tac ted the SRT  ho tline , he w as in structed to take h is  

Dodge  D em on  back  to  a  dealersh ip .

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

A ll custom ers w ho purchased  the new  2018 D odge C hallenger SRT  D em on received a one fu ll-day session a t 

B ob B onduran t Schoo l o f H igh-perfo rm ance D riv ing .

"To  “ghost” is to  “end a personal re la tionsh ip  w ith (som eone) by sudden ly and w ithou t exp lanation w ithd raw ing  

from  all com m unication .”

h ttp s://m ed ia .fcanortham erica .com /new sre lease .do?id=18679& m id= (“eng ineers rev iew ed every  part and  

p iece o f the 2018 D odge C hallenger SRT  D em on to  ensu re it p rov ides the u ltim ate in  perfo rm ance.”)

26

27

28
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26 . Thereafter, M r. G arlough took  h is D odge D em on to the S tock ton  D odge dealer. 

A t th is tim e, D ebbie Petit, h is m ain po int of con tac t there , in fo rm ed h im  tha t D odge had  

au thorized  the dealersh ip  to  repain t the hood . W hen  M r. G arlough  po in ted  ou t tha t the issue  

w ould  con tinue, M s. Petit responded , “con tac t SRT .”

27 . M r. G arlough con tac ted SRT approx im ate ly th ree add itional tim es betw een  

A ugust 2018  and  the  end  of  the  year, and  each  tim e, w as to ld  tha t D efendan ts  w ere  w ork ing  on  

a  so lu tion .

I

2

3

4

5

6

7

28 . M r. G arlough  once again  con tac ted  the SRT in  February  2019 , and  w as to ld  tha t 

D efendan ts  w ere  “redesign ing”  the  hood  scoop .

29. D espera te fo r the use of h is veh icle , M r. G arlough spen t sign ifican t tim e and  

expense attem pting  to ob tain  a  repair. W ithou t a v iable fix , how ever, au thorized  dealersh ips  

and  o ther  repair facilities refused  to  guaran tee  the ir  w ork  in  ligh t of  the  veh ic le ’s value  or  w ere  

o therw ise  unab le  to  offer certified  repain ting .

30 . O n  D ecem ber 4 , 2019 , a  Techn ica l Serv ice  Bulle tin  w as re leased :

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15 HIMBER:

GPQVP: Zi • Qaxtf 

OATS: 4.

16

17 —I
TM* s»rv(c* SuMfitlft b bftlAQ t* lupu R««ponft« Tnmkmttttl
otctmbtf 04. mi, AU appikAbt* Sold end Arnold RRT VW« «« b« to<d»d bn«d on 
Ctstemof Contact Cantor r««cMn9 out to tho imnoctod VWo. To vtiVy thte HRT sarvba 
•etbn hi spp(<c*idats th« vahbia. uiavrp or p«rfonn« VM March tn DaatarCOtOtECn 
Sorrka UtKwy.AII r«p<Ur» era reWnbunuibia orttftin the fvovHtont otworronty.

susifcn
l4aod Qced a Waiped arc} Hood Paib a E^^nasMt or Chqpped 

oyemAsm
This butirUi motm leptadng (no hood trexel. rspecting the hood domageandU
rcQuicd. itfriiJtiiij uar rtciie hood.

4#ooecs.‘

18

19

20

21 ikA) Ooi^ ChaCengcf (Demon)

NOTE: Thb buhalin af^toela ve^loe wfthtn the fotlowin^ miifkatWcowr«r(ae: NarUi 
Amorko.

20te

22 5 YutnosscommoN:
The astomcf may dnerte the tadmhng;
• Ihe hood tRixr a wwpwgsmd income cases, ebpf^ the paif« on the sidesjandcomenor 
the hood betirt ooenie^23

NOTE: tf • 0 (US. Only} <mds lh» dealerthtp-pb»f to being cordactod or 
recaMng Ota ART tetter from SOT. pleaM haoe^ cuttamar cefl SOT PrtrHum'C«re 
Id I'CSSTTO-OSTt to B<range an 
Rapeecing tfttir Demon Hoed 6«ar when caBing,

ixL Asti th« cuslamei to r«<«rente
24

r»or&
• AR iU.S. Ohty) cutfomeit wQl be contacted by a CuMsmof Core AdeHor regandns this 
Sofvks Butietin.

• If tb« customer (US. Onty} chooses to h*va ttieir vshicia r»}>air»d by e thkd (>afty 
proforrsd fadilty sr^ n 
point era to bt performad by tht deatershSp. These customers must idso recehra a 
nro hoed bead from the deaJefshlp for Iratdlctfen ct athird porty foci!^.
Pvrfonn the OiagnoMic Procedure. Proceed tb Step 1 ot the DIagnestie f^ocediira.

• AS (Cenadton Only) customer vehicles must be Enspectsd. Hoed bsxeis srHl only be
fslessed throufpi the Tech HoUbte Center (Engiahi or
(French).

25
lent, sfi inspectbfl VI bh photos of the damaged

26

27

28
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F ig  3 : Techn ica l Serv ice  Bulle tin

In  February  2020 , M r. G arlough  w as con tac ted  by  an  independen t repair  fac ility  

w hich  prov ided  a  quo te  to  repain t the  hood  and  rep lace  the  hood  scoop  bezel w ith  the  redesigned  

part fo r $3 ,604 .00 . O nce  again , how ever, the repair fac ility  w as unab le  to  guaran tee  m atch ing  

pain t and  the  $3 ,604 .00 , quo te  is  m ore  than  doub le  w hat D efendan ts  have  offered  fo r the  repair.

1

2 31.

3

4

5

CLA SS  CO M PLA IN T  A LLEGA TION S6

32 . P lain tiff  G arlough  brings th is C lass A ction  on  behalf of  h im self  and  a Califo rn ia  

class  (the  “C lass”) and  one  nation -w ide  subclass  (the  “Subclass”) of  ow ners  of  the  2018  D odge  

Challenger SRT  D em on  (“C lass  V ehic le”  or “D odge  D em on”) defined  as fo llow s:

(a)  KJIHGFEDCBAThe Class: all persons in the U nited S tates and its Territo ries w ho, during the  

app licab le C lass  Period , ow ned  any  new  or  used  C lass V ehic le  in  Califo rn ia .

(b )  The  California  Subclass: all persons  in  the  U nited  S tates  and  its Territo ries  w ho, 

during  the  app licab le  C lass  Period , purchased  any  new  or  used  C lass  V ehic le .

E xcluded  from  the  C lass  and  Subclass  are  any  m em bers  of  the  jud iciary  assigned

to  preside  over  th is  m atter, any  officer, d irec to r, or  em ployee  of  D efendan ts; and  any  im m edia te

fam ily  m em ber of  such  officer, d irec to r, or  em ployee .

Th is action  has been  brough t and  m ay  be  properly  m ain ta ined  as a class action

under Califo rn ia  Code  of  C iv il Procedure § 382  because there is a  w ell-defined  com m unity  of

in terest in  the  litiga tion  and  the  proposed  class is easily  ascerta inab le .

Numerosity : A class action is the on ly availab le m ethod fo r the fa ir and  

effic ien t ad jud ication  of  th is  con troversy . The  m em bers  of  the  C lass  and  Subclass  

are so num erous tha t jo inder of all m em bers is im practica l, if no t im possib le , 

in so far as P lain tiff is in fo rm ed  and  believes and , on  tha t basis, alleges tha t the  

to ta l num ber of  C lass and  Subclass m em bers  are , at least, in  the  hundreds, if  no t  

thousands  of  ind iv iduals. M em bers in  the  C lass  and  Subclass  w ill be  determ ined  

by  and  upon  analysis of  D efendan ts ’ custom ers ’ reco rds inc luding  com plain ts, 

am ong  o ther reco rds m ain tained  by  D efendan ts, and  com m unications betw een  

D efendan ts  and  its  Regional Business Centers  and  Parts  D istribu tion  Centers  and  

D efendan ts ’ affilia tes.

(b ) Commonality : C lass and Subclass M em bers share a com m unity  of  in terests in  

tha t there are num erous com m on questions and issues of fac t, all of w hich  

predom inate  over any  questions and  issues so lely  affec ting  ind iv idual m em bers, 

inc lud ing , bu t no t necessarily lim ited  to :

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

33.14

15

16

34.17

18

19

(a)20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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1 W hether D efendan ts engaged and /o r con tinue to engage in False  

A dvertising  in  v io lation  of  Califo rn ia  Business &  Professions  Code  §§  

17500 , et seq., by  falsely  advertising  tha t the  veh ic le com es w ith  840  

horsepow er, tha t the hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t perfo rm ance is  

no t im paired by the very use of the D odge D em on , tha t D efendan ts  

w ould  honor the ir w arranties, tha t the “engineers rev iew ed  every  part 

and  p iece ,”  and  tha t the  D odge  D em on  w as  “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  

its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tab ility ”  as it re lates to  P lain tiff  and  the  

C lass.

W hether D efendan ts v io la ted and /o r con tinue to v io late Consum er  

Legal Rem edies A ct §§ 1750 , et seq., by  fa lse ly  rep resen ting  tha t the  

veh icle com es w ith 840 horsepow er, tha t the hood scoop w as  

functional, tha t perfo rm ance is no t im paired by the very use of the  

Dodge  D em on , tha t D efendan ts w ould  honor the ir w arran ties, tha t the  

“eng ineers  rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,”  and  tha t the  D odge  D em on  

w as  “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its  exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tab ility ”  

as it re lates to  P lain tiff  and  the  C lass.

W hether D efendan ts v io la ted and /o r con tinue to v io late the Song-  

Beverly Consum er W arran ty A ct §§ 1790 since the D odge D em on  

su ffers from  a  nonconfo rm ity  tha t substan tially  im pairs its use , value , 

and /o r  safety , w hich  D efendan ts  have  been  unab le  to  repair  as it re la tes  

to  P lain tiff  and  the  C lass.

W hether D efendan ts v io la ted and /o r con tinue to v io late the Song-  

Beverly  Consum er W arran ty  A ct §§ 1790  since the  D odge  D em on  (a)  

w ould no t pass w ithou t ob jec tion in trade under the con trac t 

descrip tion ; (b ) is unfit fo r the ord inary  purposes fo r w hich  the C lass  

V ehic les w ould  be  used ; and /o r (c) carm ot be  m ade  to  confo rm  to  the  

prom ises  or  affirm ations  of  fact  m ade  on  the  D odge  D em on’s labeling .

W hether D efendan ts engaged and /o r con tinue to engage in U nfair  

Business Practices in V io la tion  of  Californ ia  Business &  Professions  

Code §§ 17200 , et seq., th rough  its  use  of  unfa ir, decep tive , un true , or  

m islead ing  advertising  as it re la tes to  P lain tiff  and  the  C lass.

W hether  D efendan ts  v io la ted  and /o r  con tinue  to  v io late  the  M agnuson-  

M oss W arran ty  A ct (15 U .S .C . §§ 2301 , et seq) by  breach ing the  

express and  im p lied  w arran ties tha t the  D odge D em on  w as free from  

defect, tha t the hood scoop w as functional, tha t perfo rm ance is no t 

im paired  by the  very  use  of  the  D odge  D em on , tha t its  w arran ty  w ould  

be honored , tha t the “engineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,” tha t 

the  D odge  D em on  w as “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  

fu ture co llec tab ility ,” and  tha t it w as fit fo r its particu lar purpose  and  

w orkm ansh ip  as it re lates to  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  the Subclass.

W hether D efendan ts breached  and /o r con tinues to  breach  the express  

w arran ty  tha t the hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t perfo rm ance is no t 

im paired  by the very  use of the D odge D em on , tha t the “eng ineers  

rev iew ed every part and p iece ,” and tha t the D odge D em on w as

-10-
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1 “accesso rized to bu ild  upon its exclusiv ity and  fu tu re co llec tab ility ,”  

as it re lates to  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass.

W hether D efendan ts engaged  in  and /o r con tinue to  engage  in  conduct  

that am oun ts to Fraudu len t Concealm en t in tha t they  m isrep resen ted  

the characteristics of the D odge D em on and /o r active ly concealed  

defects and o ther fac ts , as it re la tes to the P lain tiff, the C lass, and  

Subclass.

W hether  D efendan ts  neg ligen tly  m isrep resen ted  tha t the  veh icle  com es  

w ith 840 horsepow er, tha t the hood seoop w as functional, tha t 

perfo rm ance  is no t im paired  by  the  very  use  of  the  D odge  D em on , tha t 

D efendan ts  w ould  honor  the ir  w arran ties, tha t the  “eng ineers  rev iew ed  

every  part and  p iece ,”  and  tha t the  D odge  D em on  w as  “accesso rized  to  

build upon its exclusiv ity and fu ture co llec tab ility ” as it re la tes to  

P lain tiff, the  C lass and  the Subclass.

(10 ) W hether D efendan ts w ere un justly enriched by offering a lim ited  

production of the D odge D em on  tha t w as m arketed and so ld fo r its  

fu tu re co llec tab ility  w ith  certa in  attribu tes tha t w ere  un true and  w hen  

the H ood Scoop D efect substan tially im pacts the aesthetic and  

perfo rm ance, as it re lates to  the  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass.KJIHGFEDCBA

Typicality : The C lass and Subclass cla im s are typ ica l of the claim s of the  

P lain tiff. P lain tiff and  all m em bers of  the C lass and Subclass susta ined  in ju ries  

and dam ages arising ou t of and caused by D efendan ts ’ com m on course of  

conduct in  v io la tion  of  sta te  and  federa l law s, as alleged  here in .

Superiority of Class Action : S ince the dam ages su ffered by ind iv idual class  

m embers, w hile no t inconsequen tia l, m ay  be re la tive ly sm all, the expense and  

burden of ind iv idual litiga tion by each m em ber m akes, or m ay m ake it 

im practica l fo r class m em bers to seek red ress ind iv idually fo r the w rongfu l  

conduct alleged  herein . Shou ld  separa te  actions be  brought or be  required  to  be  

brough t by  each ind iv idual class m em ber, the resu lting  m ultip lic ity of  law su its  

w ould cause undue hardsh ip and  expense fo r the Court and  the litigants. The  

prosecu tion  of  separa te  actions  w ould  also  crea te  a  risk  of  inconsequen tia l ru lings, 

w hich  m igh t be d ispositive of  the in terests of  o ther class m em bers w ho  are no t  

parties to the ad jud ica tion and /o r m ay substan tia lly im pede the ir ab ility to  

adequate ly  pro tec t the ir in terests.

Adequacy  of  Representation : P lain tiff  is  an  adequate  rep resen ta tive  of  the  C lass  

and Subclass, in tha t P lain tiffs cla im s are typ ical of those of the C lass and  

Subclass. P lain tiff  has  the  sam e  in terests  in  the  litiga tion  of  th is case  as the  C lass  

and  Subclass. P lain tiff  is  com m itted  to  v igorous  prosecu tion  of  th is  case , and  has  

re ta ined com peten t counsel, experienced  in  litiga tion  of th is natu re . P lain tiff  is  

not sub jec t to  any  ind iv idual defenses un ique  from  those  conceivab ly  app licab le  

to  the class as a  w hole. P lain tiff an tic ipa tes no  m anagem en t d ifficu lties in  th is  

litiga tion .

2

(8)
3

4

5

(9)
6

7

8

9

10

11

12

(c)13

14

15

(d)
16

17

18

19

20

21

22 (e)

23

24

25

26

27

28

-11-

CLA SS A CT IO N  CO M PLA IN T

Case 2:20-cv-01879-JAM-AC   Document 1   Filed 09/18/20   Page 22 of 70



1KJIHGFEDCBA CAUSES  OF  ACTION

2
FIRST  CAUSE  OF  ACTION

False  Advertising Law

(V iolation  of  California Business &  Professions Code §§ 17500, etseq.) 

(On  Behalf of  the Plaintiff  and  the Class)

3

4

35 . P lain tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the  C lass, inco rpora tes in  th is  cause  of  action  

each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  and  effec t as though  

fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

36 . Califo rn ia ’s False A dvertising Law  (C al. Bus. &  Prof Code §§ 17500, et seq.) 

(“FA L”), proh ib its unfa ir, decep tive, un true , or m islead ing  advertising . The Cal. Bus. Prof  

Code § 17500  specifically  proh ib its:

5

6

7

8

9

10

[a]ny  person  ... to  m ake  or  d issem inate  or  cause  to  be  d issem inated  

from  th is sta te  befo re  the  pub lic in  any  sta te ... in  any  advertising  

dev ice ... or in  any  m anner or m eans w hatever, includ ing  over the  

in ternet any  statem en t concern ing  . . . personal property  or serv ices, 

pro fessional or o therw ise , or perfo rm ance or d isposition thereo f, 

w hich is un true or m islead ing and w hich is know n or w hich by  

exerc ise of reasonab le care shou ld be know n, to be un true or  

m isleading .

37 . D efendan ts fa lse ly advertised and prom oted over the in ternet and in the ir  

prom otional m ateria ls tha t the C lass V ehic le cam e standard  w ith  840  horsepow er and  tha t the  

hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t it w as  free  from  defects, tha t perfo rm ance  w as  no t im paired  by  

the  very  use  of  the  C lass  V ehic le , tha t the “eng ineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,”  and  tha t 

the  C lass  V ehic le  w as “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tability .”

38 . These  advertisem en ts, inducem en ts and  rep resen ta tions, on  its b logs, w ebsites,  

and  o ther prom otional m ateria ls , com e w ith in  the m ean ing  of  fa lse advertising as defined  in  

Cal. Bus. &  Prof. Code §§ 17500 , et seq., in  so  m uch  tha t they  w ere  in tended  as inducem en ts  

fo r  car en thusiasts to  purchase  the lim ited  D odge  D em on .

39 . D efendan ts knew  or shou ld  have know n  tha t these statem en ts w ere decep tive

and m islead ing because , am ong o ther th ings, the veh icle actually cam e standard w ith 808

horsepow er and  D efendan ts claim ed  tha t the eng ineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece . FCA

U S LLC false advertisem en ts w ere calcu la ted to induce P lain tiff and C lass m em bers to
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purchase the C lass V ehic le —  they o therw ise w ould no t have purchased or w ould have  

o therw ise  purchased  the C lass V ehic le  fo r less —  to  increase pro fits and  ra tings.

40 . D efendan ts ’ actions caused in ju ry  to P lain tiff and  C lass m em bers because: a)  

they  w ould  no t have purehased  the product if  they  had  know n  tha t the C lass V ehic le d id  no t 

have the functionality  or perfo rm ance fea tu res as expressly  w arran ted  by  D efendan ts or they  

w ould  have  paid  substan tia lly  less fo r the C lass  V ehicle ; (b ) they  paid  a  prem ium  price  fo r the  

C lass V ehic le as a resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ fa lse  w arran ties and  m isrep resen tations; and  (c) they  

purchased  a C lass V ehic le  tha t d id  no t have the  functionality , perfo rm ance featu res, qualities, 

or value  prom ised  by  D efendan ts.

41 . D efendan ts have im properly ob ta ined m oney or else caused P lain tiff and  

Califo rn ia to unnecessarily expend tim e and resources to rem edy the H ood Scoop D efect  

th rough  the ir unfair acts and  practices. Thus, P lain tiff requests tha t D efendan ts resto re th is  

m oney  to  P lain tiff  and  all C lass  m em bers and  en jo in  FCA  U S  LLC  from  con tinu ing  to  v io la te

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

'8

9

10

11

12

13

C al. Bus. &  Prof Code  §§ 17500, etseq., in  the  fu tu re.14

Pursuan t to  Cal. Code  C iv . Proc . § 1021 .5 , P lain tiff  also  requests  tha t the  Court 

aw ard  reasonab le  atto rneys’ fees and  costs.

15 42.

16KJIHGFEDCBA

SECOND  CAUSE  OF  ACTION17
V iolation  of  the California Consumer  Legal Remedies  Act 

(CaL  Civ. Code §§ 17500, etseq.)

(On  Behalf of  the Plaintiff  and  the Class)

18

19

P la in tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass, inco rpora tes in  th is cause of  

action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  and  effec t as  

though  fu lly  se t fo rth  here in .

43.
20

21

22
This cause of action is brough t pursuan t to the Califo rn ia Consum er Legal44.

23
Rem edies A ct (“CLRA ”), Cal. C iv . Code §§ 17500, et seq.

24
P lain tiff  and  all C lass  m em bers are  “consum ers”  w ith in  the  m ean ing  of  Cal. C iv.45.

25
Code § 1761(d ).

26

The sa le of the C lass V ehic les to P lain tiff and the C lass m em bers w ere46 .
27

“transactions”  w ith in  the  m ean ing  of  Cal. C iv . Code  § 1761(e).
28

-13 -
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The  C lass  V ehic le  purchased  by  P lain tiff  and  C lass  m em bers  are  “goods”  w ith in  

the  m ean ing  of  C al. C iv . C ode § 1761(a).

A s alleged  here in , D efendan ts fa lse ly  advertised  tha t the  veh icle  cam e standard  

w ith  840  horsepow er and  tha t the  hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t perfo rm ance  is no t im paired  

by  the  very  use of  the C lass V ehic le , tha t the “eng ineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,” tha t 

the  C lass  V ehic le  w as  “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tability ,”  and  

tha t D efendan ts w ould  honor the ir  w arran ty . Specifica lly , D efendan ts v io la ted  Cal. C iv . Code  

§ 1770(a)(7 ), w hich  proh ib its  “[rjep resen ting  tha t goods are  of  a  particu lar standard , quality , or  

grade  ...”

47.1

2

48.3

4

5

6

7

8

9

P la in tiff  re lied  on  D efendan ts ’ fa lse  represen ta tions  tha t the  C lass  V ehic le  cam e

standard  w ith 840  horsepow er and  tha t the hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t perfo rm ance  w as

no t im paired  by the  very  use  of  the  C lass  V ehic le , tha t the  “eng ineers rev iew ed  every  part and

p iece ,” tha t the D odge D em on w as “accesso rized to bu ild upon its exclusiv ity and fu ture

co llec tability ,” and tha t D efendan ts w ould honor the ir w arran ty . P lain tiff w ould no t have

purchased  the  C lass  V ehic le  or  w ould  have  paid  sign ifican tly  less fo r the  C lass  V ehic le , bu t fo r

D efendan ts ’ un law fu l conduct. C lass  m em bers  w ere  like ly  to  also  have  re lied  upon  D efendan ts ’

decep tive  advertising  and  prom otional m ateria ls . P lain tiff  and  the  C lass  acted  reasonab ly  w hen

they  purchased  the  C lass  V ehic le  based  on  D efendan ts ’ fa lse  rep resenta tions.

A s a resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ fa lse rep resenta tions. P lain tiff  and  the m em bers of

the C lass  w ere  in ju red  because  they ; a) they  w ould  no t have  purchased  the  product if  they  had

know n  tha t the  C lass  V ehic le  d id  no t  have  the  functionality  or  perfo rm ance  fea tu res  as  expressly

and  im p lied ly  w arran ted  by  D efendan ts or they  w ould  have  paid  substan tia lly  less fo r the  C lass

V eh ic le; (b ) they  paid  a prem ium  price fo r the C lass V ehic le as a resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ fa lse

w arran ties  and  m isrep resen tations; and  (c) they  purchased  a  C lass  V ehic le  tha t d id  no t have  the

functionality , perfo rm ance  fea tu res, qualities, or  value  prom ised  by  D efendan ts.

U nder Cal. C iv . Code § 1780(a), P lain tiff and m em bers of the C lass seek

in junctive and  equ itab le re lie f  fo r D efendan ts ’ v io la tions of  the CLRA . P lain tiff has already

no tified  D efendan ts v ia  a  dem and  le tte r  m onths  ago  ind ica ting  h is in ten t to  pursue  claim s  under
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the CLRA , w hich has prov ided D efendan ts an opportun ity to cure the un law fu l practice , 

consisten t w ith  C al. C iv . C ode § 1782 . S ince D efendan ts have fa iled  to  take correc tive  action  

w ith in 30 days of rece ip t of the dem and le tte r, P lain tiff also requests dam ages as perm itted

1

2

3

under Cal. C iv . Code § 1782(d ).4

5KJIHGFEDCBA THIRD  CAUSE  OF  ACTION

Violation of  Express Warranty Under the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty  Act

(Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1790  etseq.)

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff and  the Class)

6

7

P lain tiff, ind iv idually and on  behalf  of  the C lass, incorpora tes in  th is cause of  

action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  and  effec t as  

though  fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

52.
8

9

10

D efendan ts ’ C lass V ehic le is a “consum er good” and P lain tiff and C lass  

m em bers are “buyers” w ith in  the m ean ing of Cal. C iv . Code § 1791 . D efendan ts are also a  

“m anufactu rer,”  “d istribu to r,”  or  “reta il se ller”  under  Cal. C iv . Code  § 1791 .

In  connection  w ith the sa le of  its C lass V ehic le, D efendan ts prov ided  w ritten ,  

ora l and  im p lied  w arran ties, and  a  Basic  L im ited  W arranty  tha t “covers the  cost of  all parts  and  

labor needed  to repair any item  on [the] veh icle w hen  it le ft the m anufactu ring  p lan t tha t is  

defective  in  m ateria l, w orkm ansh ip  or facto ry  prepara tion ...”  during  the  app licab le  w arran ty  

period .

53.
11

12

13

54.
14

15

16

17

18

W ith in  the app licab le w arran ty  period . P lain tiff and  C lass M em bers delivered  

the  C lass  V ehic le  to  au thorized  repair  facilities  due  to  the  H ood  Scoop  D efect. These  au thorized  

repair  fac ilities, how ever, w ere  unab le  to  confo rm  the  C lass  V ehic le  to  the  app licab le  w arranties,  

depriv ing  each  ind iv idual of  the  use  of  the  C lass  V ehie le .

D esp ite P lain tiff and o ther C lass M em bers perfo rm ing each and every du ty  

requ ired under the te rm s of the w arran ty agreem en t and under the prov isions of the Song-  

Beverly  Consum er  W arran ty  A ct, D efendan ts fa iled  to  repair the  defective  and  nonconfo rm ing  

C lass V ehic le  as  w arran ted , w hich  su ffers  and  con tinues  to  su ffer  from  the  defective  cond itions  

tha t substan tia lly  im pair the  C lass  V ehic le ’s use , value  and  safe ty .

55.
19

20

21

22

56 .23

■ 24

25

26

27

28
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U nder C al. C iv . C ode §§ 1791 .1 (d ) and 1794 , P lain tiff  and  the proposed  C lass  

m em bers  are  en titled  to  dam ages  and  o ther legal and  equ itab le  re lie f, inc lud ing , at the ir elec tion , 

the  righ t to  revoke accep tance of  the C lass  V ehic le  or the overpaym en t or d im inu tion  in  value  

of  the  C lass  V ehic le , and  are  also  en titled  to  reasonab le  atto rneys’ fees and  costs.

B ecause  D efendan ts ’ w illfu l refusa l to  com ply  w ith  the  provisions of  the Song-  

Beverly  Consum er W arran ty  A ct is en tire ly  unreasonable  and in v io la tion  of C iv il Code §§  

1793 .2  and 194(c), P lain tiff  and  the proposed  C lass m em bers are en titled  to  penalties of  up  to  

tw o  tim es the  dam ages.

1 57.

2

3

4

58.5

6

7

8

9KJIHGFEDCBA FOURTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION

Violation  of  Implied  Warranty Under the Song-Beverly  Consumer  Warranty  Act

(Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1790  etseq.)

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff and  the Class)

10

11

59 . P lain tiff, ind iv idually and  on  behalf of  the C lass, inco rpora tes in  th is cause of  

action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preceding  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  and  effec t as  

though  fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

60 . D efendan ts ’ C lass V ehic le is a “consum er good” and P lain tiff and C lass  

m em bers are “buyers” w ith in  the m ean ing  of  Cal. C iv . Code § 1791 . D efendan ts are also a  

“m anufactu rer,”  “d istribu to r,”  or  “reta il se ller”  under  Cal. C iv . Code  § 1791 .

61 . The  express  and  im p lied  w arran ty  of  m erchan tab ility  inc luded  w ith  each  sa le  or  

lease  of  a  C lass  V ehic le  m eans tha t D efendan ts  w arran ted  tha t the  C lass  V ehic le  (a) w ould  pass  

w ithou t ob jec tion  in  trade  under the  con trac t descrip tion ; (b ) w as fit fo r the ord inary  purposes  

fo r w hich  the  C lass V ehic le  w ould  be  used ; and  (c) conform ed  to  the  prom ises or affirm ations  

of  fac t m ade  on  the  C lass V ehic le ’s labeling .

62 . The  C lass V ehic le w ould  no t pass w ithou t ob jec tion  in  the au tom otive lim ited -  

production  .trade because  of  the  H ood  Scoop  D efect. S ince  the  C lass  V ehic le  w as  m arketed  as  

an exclusive veh icle w ith certa in attribu tes and fu tu re co llec tab ility , the low er horsepow er  

and /o r the H ood Scoop D efect m akes them  unpassab le w ithou t ob jec tion in trade under the  

con trac t descrip tions and  unfit fo r the ord inary purposes fo r w hich such C lass V ehic le w as  

designed .

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
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M oreover, D efendan ts have  been  prov ided  w ith  num erous opportun ities to  cure  

the  defects bu t fa iled  to  do  so ; the  D ecem ber  4 , 2019  Techn ical Serv ice  Bulletin ’s so -ca lled  fix  

fa lls short and  there  have  been  no  guarantees of  w orkm ansh ip  or certifica tion  fo r  repain ting .

D efendan ts ’ actions have deprived  P lain tiff  and  C lass m em bers of  the benefit 

of  the ir bargain  and  have  caused  the  C lass  V ehic le  to  be  w orth  less than  w hat they  paid , as  w ell 

as substan tia lly  im pairs its fu ture  use , value , and /o r safety , and  Collec tab ility .

A s a d irec t and prox im ate resu lt of D efendan ts breach ing the ir du ties, the  

proposed  C lass  m em bers  rece ived  the  C lass  V ehic le  w ith  substan tia lly  im paired  value . P lain tiff  

and  the C lass m em bers have been  dam aged  by  the d im in ished  value of  the C lass V ehic le , the  

C lass  V ehic le’s  m alfunction ing , and  actual and  po ten tia l increased  m ain tenance  and  repair  costs.

U nder Cal. C iv . Code §§ 1791 .1 (d ) and 1794 , P lain tiff  and  the proposed  C lass  

m em bers are  en titled  to  dam ages  and  o ther  legal and  equ itab le  re lie f, inc lud ing , at the ir  elec tion , 

the  righ t to  revoke  accep tance of  the C lass V ehic le or the  overpaym en t or d im inu tion  in  value  

of  the ir  C lass  V ehic le , and  are  also  en titled  to  reasonab le  atto rneys’ fees  and  costs.

63 .1

2

3

64.4

5KJIHGFEDCBA

6

65.7

8

9

10

66 .11

12

13

14

15 FIFTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION

Unfair  Business Practices

(V iolation  of  Cal. Bus. &  Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq.,) 

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff and  the Class)

16

17

P la in tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf of  the C lass, inco rpora tes in  th is cause of  

action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preceding  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  and  effec t as  

though  fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

67 .
18

19

20

Califo rn ia’s U nfair Business Practices Law  proh ib its (C al. Bus. &  Prof. Code §  

17200, § et seq) (“U CL”) defines unfa ir business practice to inc lude “un law fu l, unfa ir, or  

fraudu len t”  act or  practice  as  w ell as  “any  unfa ir, un true , or  m islead ing”  advertising . A  business  

act is un law fu l if  it v io lates any  o ther law  or  regu lation .

A  business  act or  practice  is  “unfa ir”  under  the  U CL  if  the  reasons, ju stifica tions  

and  m otives of  the  alleged  w rongdoer are  ou tw eighed  by  the grav ity  of  the  harm  to  the  alleged  

v ic tim s. A  business act or practice is “fraudu len t” under the U CL  if it is like ly to deceive

68 .
21

22

23

24

69 .25

26

27

28
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m em bers of  the consum ing  pub lic . A  business act or practice is “un law fu l” under the U CL  if  

it v io lates any  o ther law  or regu lation .

70 . D efendan ts have  engaged  in  fraudu len t and  unfa ir  business  practices  as it re la tes  

to  the  m arketing  and  sa le of  the  D odge  D em on .

71 . The business acts and  practices alleged here in  are unfa ir because they caused  

P lain tiff  and  C lass m em bers to fa lse ly  believe tha t D efendan ts w ere offering  a C lass V ehic le  

w ith  certa in  horsepow er and  aesthetic  and  perfo rm ance  fea tu res  w ithou t defect. This decep tion  

w as like ly  to  have  induced  reasonab le  consum ers, inc luding  P lain tiff, to  purchase D efendan ts ’ 

C lass V ehic le , w hich they o therw ise w ould no t have purchased , or w ould have paid  

substan tia lly  less fo r the  C lass  V ehic le .

72 . The grav ity of the harm  to P lain tiff and C lass m em bers resu lting  from  these  

unfa ir acts and  practices ou tw eighs any conceivable reasons, ju stifications and /o r m otives of  

D efendan ts fo r engag ing in such decep tive acts and practices. By com m itting the acts and  

practices alleged  here in . D efendan ts engaged in , and con tinue to engage in , unfa ir business  

practices w ith in  the  m ean ing  of  Cal. Bus. &  Prof. Code §§ 17200 , et seq .

73 . D efendan ts have also v io la ted the “un law fu l” prong of  the U CL  by  v io lating  

severa l Califo rn ia  law s, as alleged  herein , includ ing  the  FA L  and  CLRA .

74 . D efendan ts  have  also  v io la ted  the  “fraudu len t”  prong  of  the  U CL  by  m isleading  

P lain tiff and C lass m em bers to believe tha t the C lass V ehic le cam e standard w ith 840

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

horsepow er and  tha t the  hood  scoops  w ere  functional, tha t perfo rm ance  is no t im paired  by the

very  use of  the C lass V ehic le , tha t the “eng ineers  rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,”  and  tha t the

C lass  V ehic le  w as “accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tab ility .”

A s  a  resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ un law fu l acts, P lain tiff  and  the  m em bers  of  the  C lass

w ere in ju red  because they : a) they  w ould  no t have purchased  the product if  they  had  know n

that the C lass V ehic le d id no t have the functionality or perfo rm ance fea tu res as expressly

w arran ted  by  D efendan ts or they  w ould  have  paid  substan tia lly  less fo r the  C lass V ehicle ; (b )

they  paid  a  prem ium  price  fo r  the  C lass  V ehic le  as a  resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ fa lse  w arran ties and

m isrep resen ta tions; and  (c) they  purchased  a  C lass V ehic le  tha t d id  no t have  the  functionality ,
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perfo rm ance featu res, qualities, or  value  prom ised  by  D efendan ts. Therefo re , P lain tiff  requests  

tha t th is Court cause  D efendan ts to  resto re th is  m oney  to  P lain tiff  and  the  C lass, and  to  en jo in  

D efendan t from  con tinu ing  to  v io la te  the  U CL  as alleged  here in .

1

2

3

4KJIHGFEDCBA SIXTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION  

(V iolation  of  the Magnuson-M oss Warranty  Act)

(15U .S .C . §§ 2301,et5e^ .)

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff, Class, and  Subclass)

P lain tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass and Subclass, inco rpora tes in

th is cause  of  action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the sam e  fo rce

and  effec t as though  fu lly  se t fo rth  here in .

D efendan ts ’ C lass  V ehicles are “consum er products”  w ith in  the m ean ing  of 15

5

6

76 .7

8

9

77.10

U .S .C . § 2301(1 ).11

P lain tiff, C lass, and  Subclass  M em bers are  all consum ers  w ith in  the  m ean ing  of78.12

15 U .S .C . § 2301(3 ).13

D efendan ts are supp liers and w arran to rs w ith in the m ean ing of 15 U .S .C . §79 .14

2301(4).15

In connection w ith the sa le of its C lass V ehic le , D efendan ts m ade80.
16

rep resen ta tions and  prov ided  a Basic L im ited  W arran ty  tha t “covers the cost of  all parts and  

labor needed to  repair any item  on [the] veh icle w hen  it le ft the m anufactu ring p lan t tha t is  

defective in  m ateria l, w orkm ansh ip  or facto ry  prepara tion  ...”  during  the  app licab le  w arran ty  

period .

17

18

19

20

In  connection  w ith  the sa le of  its C lass  V ehic le , D efendan ts also  gave  m ultip le  

im p lied  w arran ties as defined  in 15 U .S .C . § 2301(7 ), inc lud ing  bu t no t lim ited  to  the  im p lied  

w arran ty  of  m erchan tability  and  the  im p lied  w arran ty  of  fitness fo r a  particu lar  purpose.

The  C lass  V ehic le , how ever, d id  no t confo rm  the  rep resen tations and  w ith in  the  

app licab le w arran ty period , P lain tiff and C lass M em bers delivered the C lass V ehic les to  

au thorized repair facilities due to the H ood  Scoop  D efect. These au thorized  repair fac ilities, 

how ever, w ere unab le to confo rm  the C lass V ehic le to the app licab le represen tations or

w arran ties, depriv ing  each  ind iv idual of  the  fu ll use  of  the  C lass V ehic le.

-19 -

81.21

22

23

82.24

25

26

27

28
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83 . D esp ite P lain tiff and o ther C lass M em bers perfo rm ing each and every du ty  

requ ired  under  the  te rm s of  the  w arran ty  agreem en t and  under  the  prov isions of  the  M agnuson-  

M oss  W arran ty  A ct, D efendan ts fa iled  to  repair  the  defective  and  noncon fo rm ing  C lass  V ehic le  

as w arran ted , w hich su ffers and con tinues to su ffer from the defective cond itions tha t 

substan tia lly  im pair the  C lass V ehic le ’s use , value  and  safety .

84 . D efendants fu rther breached  the im p lied  w arran ties, in  tha t the C lass  V ehic le  is  

no t fit fo r the  ord inary  purpose  fo r w hich  it w as designed .

85 . A s a d irec t and prox im ate resu lt of  D efendan ts breach ing  the ir Basic L im ited  

W arran ty  and  the im plied  w arran ty  of  m erchan tab ility . P lain tiff  and  the o ther C lass M em bers  

have  been  dam aged  in  an  am oun t exceed ing  $25  and  are  en titled  to  all dam ages, inc luding  the  

d im inu tion  in  value  of  the ir  veh icles.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10KJIHGFEDCBA

11

SEVENTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION12
Breach  of  Express Warranty  

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff, Class, and  Subclass)13

P lain tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass and  Subclass, inco rpora tes in  

th is cause  of  action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  

and  effec t as though  fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

In connection  w ith the sa le of the C lass V ehic le , D efendan ts issued an ora l, 

im p lied  and  express  w arran ty  tha t the  D odge  D em on  has a  functional hood  scoop  tha t cou ld  be  

repaired  under  w arran ty , tha t perfo rm ance  is  no t im paired  by  the  very  use  of  the  D odge  D em on , 

tha t the “eng ineers rev iew ed every part and p iece ,” and tha t the D odge D em on w as  

“accesso rized  to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re  co llec tability .”

D efendan ts ' affirm ation of fac t and prom ise in the advertisem en ts and  

prom otional m aterials tha t the C lass V ehic le com es standard w ith 840 horsepow er, have a  

functional hood  scoop , tha t perfo rm ance  is no t im paired  by  the  very  use  of  the  D odge  D em on , 

tha t the “eng ineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece ,”  tha t the D odge  D em on  w as “accesso rized  

to  bu ild  upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu tu re co llec tability ,” and  tha t D efendan ts  w ould  honor the ir  

w arran ty becam e the basis of the bargain  betw een  D efendan ts and P lain tiff, the C lass, and

86.14

15

16

87.17

18

19

20

21

88.22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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Subclass, thereby creating express w arran ties tha t the C lass V ehic le w ould confo rm to  

D efendan ts ’ affirm ation  of  fac t, rep resenta tions, prom ise , and  descrip tion .

S im ilarly , D efendan ts crea ted w ritten express w arran ties and expressly  

w arran ted  to  P lain tiff, the  C lass and  Subclass tha t the  C lass V ehic les w ould  be  of  h igh  quality , 

at a  m in im um  w ould  w ork  properly  and  com fortab ly , and  w ould  be free from  defects and  fit 

fo r norm al use . D efendan ts also  expressly  w arran ted  tha t certa in  defects, includ ing  the  H ood  

Scoop  D efect, w ould  be  rem ed ied  at no  cost to  the  purchaser.

D efendan ts breached  these  w arran ties, thus deny ing  C lass  M em bers the  benefit 

of the ir bargain . Put sim ply , the C lass V ehic le at issue here does no t live up  to D efendan ts ’

1

2

89 .3

4

5

6

7

8 90 .

9

10 express  w arran ties.

P la in tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass w ere in ju red  because they: a) they  w ould  no t 

have purchased the product if they had know n tha t the C lass V ehic le d id no t have the  

functionality  or  perfo rm ance  featu res  as  expressly  w arran ted  by  D efendan ts or  they  w ould  have  

paid  substan tia lly  less  fo r  the  C lass  V ehic le; (b ) they  paid  a  prem ium  price  fo r  the  C lass  V ehic le  

as a resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ fa lse w arran ties and  m isrep resen tations; and (c) they purchased  a  

C lass V ehic le tha t d id no t have the functionality , perfo rm ance featu res, qualities, or value  

prom ised  by  D efendan ts.

91 .11

12

13

14

15

16

17KJIHGFEDCBA

EIGHTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION18
Fraudulent Concealment 

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff, Class, and  Subclass)19

P la in tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass and  Subclass, inco rpora tes in  

th is cause  of  action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preced ing  paragraphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  

and  effec t as though  fu lly  se t fo rth  herein .

D efendan ts w ere aw are of  the H ood  Scoop  D efect w hen  it m arketed  and  so ld  

the C lass  V ehic le to  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass m em bers. D efendan ts w ere  also  aw are  

tha t the C lass V ehic le on ly had  808 horsepow er and  requ ired an  upgrade and  rac ing fue l to  

reach  840  horsepow er.

92 .20

21

22

93 .23

24

25

26

H av ing  been  aw are  of  the H ood  Scoop  D efect in  the C lass V ehic le , and  being

fu lly aw are tha t P lain tiff, the C lass, and Subclass m em bers cou ld no t have reasonab ly  been

-21-

94 .27

28
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expected  to  know  of  the  H ood  Scoop  D efect, or  the  true  perfo rm ance  m easures, D efendan ts  had  

a du ty to d isclose the H ood Scoop D efect to P lain tiff, the C lass, and Subclass m em bers in  

connection  w ith  the  sa le  or lease  of  the  C lass V ehic le .

D efendan ts m ateria lly  m isrep resen ted  and /o r active ly  concealed  m aterial fac ts , 

such  as the  H ood  Scoop  D efect and  the  C lass  V ehic le ’s actual horsepow er, in  w hole  or in  part, 

in tend ing  to  induce P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers to  purchase the C lass V ehic le  

and  to  purchase  those  veh ic les  at a  h igher  price  than  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass  m em bers  

o therw ise  w ould  have.

1

2

3

95 .4

5

6

7

8

P lain tiff, the C lass, and Subclass m em bers w ere unaw are of these om itted  

m ateria l fac ts and  w ould  no t have  acted  as they  d id  if  they  had  know n  of  the  concealed  and /o r  

supp ressed  fac ts . H ad  P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers know n  of  the H ood  Scoop  

D efect, they  w ould  no t have  purchased  the  C lass  V ehic le  or w ould  have  paid  substan tia lly  less  

fo r the  C lass  V ehic les.

96 .9

10

11

12

13

97 . Because of  the concealm en t and /o r suppression  of  m ateria l facts regard ing  the  

C lass V ehic le, P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers susta ined  dam ages in  an  am oun t to

14

15

16 be  determ ined  at tria l.KJIHGFEDCBA

NINTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION17
Negligent M isrepresentation  

(On  Behalf  of  the Plaintiff, Class, and  Subclass)18

P la in tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass and Subclass, inco rpora tes in  

th is cause  of  action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the preced ing  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  

and  effec t as though  fu lly  se t fo rth  here in .

D efendan ts represen ted and led consum ers to believe tha t the veh icle cam e  

standard  w ith 840  horsepow er and  tha t the hood  scoop  w as functional, tha t it w as free from  

defects, tha t perfo rm ance w as no t im paired by the very use of the C lass V ehic le , tha t the  

engineers rev iew ed  every  part and  p iece , and  tha t the  D odge  D em on  w as  “accesso rized  to  bu ild  

upon  its exclusiv ity  and  fu ture  co llec tability .”

D efendan ts knew  or shou ld  have know n  tha t these sta tem en ts w ere decep tive  

and  m islead ing  at the  tim e  they  w ere  m ade.

98.19

20

21

99.22

23

24

25

26

100.27

28
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101 . D efendan ts m ateria lly  m isrep resen ted  and /o r actively  concealed  m ateria l fac ts , 

such  as the  H ood  Scoop  D efect and  the  C lass  V ehic le’s actual horsepow er, in  w hole  or in  part, 

in tend ing  to induce P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers to  purchase the C lass V ehic le  

and  to  purchase  those  veh ic les at a  h igher price  than  P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass  m em bers  

o therw ise  w ould  have.

1

2

3

4

5

Based  on the above. P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers paid  m ore fo r  

the C lass V ehic le . P lain tiff, the C lass, and  Subclass m em bers w ere  unaw are of  the tru th  and

6 102 .

7

w ould no t have acted as they d id if they had know n of the concealed and /o r o therw ise8

m isrep resen ted  fac ts .

103 . Because of  the concealm en t and  m isrep resen ta tion  of  m ateria l facts regard ing  

the C lass  V ehic le , P lain tiff, the  C lass, and  Subclass m em bers susta ined  dam ages in  an  am oun t  

to  be  determ ined  at tria l.

9

10

11

12KJIHGFEDCBA

TENTH  CAUSE  OF  ACTION
13

Unjust Enrichm ent

(On  Behalf of  the Plaintiff, Class, and  Subclass)
14

P la in tiff, ind iv idually  and  on  behalf  of  the C lass and Subclass, inco rpora tes in  

th is  cause  of  action  each  and  every  allegation  of  the  preceding  parag raphs, w ith  the  sam e  fo rce  

and  effec t as though  fu lly  se t fo rth  here in .

A s  a  resu lt of  D efendan ts ’ w rongfu l and  decep tive  conduct. P lain tiff, the  C lass, 

and  Subclass  m em bers have  su ffered  a  detrim en t w hile  D efendan ts  have  received  a  benefit.

104 .
15

16

17

105 .
18

19

P la in tiff, the C lass, and Subclass m em bers have conferred a benefit on  

D efendan ts by  purchasing  the  C lass  V ehic le  w ith  the  H ood  Scoop  D efect. D efendan ts  rece ived  

a  prem ium  price  benefit and /o r add itional sa les from  P lain tiff  and  C lass  m em bers  as a  resu lt of  

th is un law fu l conduct. D efendan ts appreciate  or  have  know ledge  of  such  benefit.

D efendan ts ’ re ten tion  of  th is benefit v io lates princip les of  ju stice, equ ity , and  

good  conscience . Indeed , D efendan ts shou ld  no t be  allow ed  to  re tain  the  prem ium  price  pro fits  

and /o r add itional sa les genera ted from  the sa le of products tha t w ere un law fully m arketed ,  

advertised  and prom oted . A llow ing D efendan ts to re ta in these un just pro fits w ould offend

106.
20

21

22

23

107.
24

25

26

27

28
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trad itional no tions of ju stice and fa ir p lay and induce com pan ies to m isrep resen t key  

characteristics of  the ir products in  order  to  increase  sa les.

P la in ly sta ted , it w ould  be inequ itab le and un just fo r D efendan ts to  re ta in  the  

benefit of revenues ob tained from purchases of its C lass V ehic le , because D efendan ts  

m ateria lly  m isrep resen ted  the  functionality , perfo rm ance featu res, qualities, and  value .

Thus, D efendan ts are  in  possession  of  funds tha t w ere  w rongfu lly  reta ined  from  

P lain tiff  and  C lass  m em bers tha t shou ld  be  d isgorged  as illegally  go tten  gains.

1

2

108 .3

4

5

109 .6

7

8KJIHGFEDCBA PRAYER  FOR  RELIEF

WHEREFORE , P lain tiff  dem ands  judgm en t as fo llow s:

A n  order  declaring  tha t th is  action  m ay  be  m ain tained  as a  C lass  A ction  pursuan t 

to Califo rn ia Code of  C iv il Procedure § 382 , and fo r an order certify ing th is case as a class  

action  and  appo in ting  P lain tiff  as rep resenta tive  of  the  C lasses.

A  declara tion  tha t D efendan ts ’ actions, as described  here in , v io la te the cla im s

9

10 A .

11

12

B .13

described  here in ;

C . A n  aw ard  of  in junctive and  o ther equ itab le relie f  as is necessary  to  pro tec t the  

in terests  of  P lain tiff  and  the  C lasses, inc lud ing , inter alia, an  order  prohib iting  D efendan ts  from  

engag ing  in  the  un law fu l act described  above;

D . A n  aw ard  to  P lain tiff  and  the  C lasses of  restitu tion  and /o r o ther equ itab le  re lie f, 

inc lud ing , w ithou t lim itation , d isgorgem en t of  all pro fits  and  un just enrichm en t tha t  D efendan ts  

ob ta ined  from  P lain tiff  and  the  C lasses  as  a  resu lt of  its  un law fu l, unfa ir  and  fraudu len t business

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

practices described  here in ;

E . For judgm en t fo r P lain tiff and  the C lasses on  the ir claim s in  an  am oun t to  be  

proven at trial, fo r com pensato ry dam ages caused by D efendan t’s practices; along w ith  

exem plary  dam ages to  each  C lass  m em ber fo r each  v io la tion ;

F . For pre-judgm en t and  post-judgm ent in terest as prov ided  fo r by  law  or allow ed

21

22

23

24

25

26 m  equ ity ;

G. For an  order aw ard ing  P lain tiff  and  the C lasses the ir atto rneys’ fees and  costs;27

28 and
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H . Such  o ther and  fu rther re lie f as m ay  appear necessary  and  appropriate .1

2 Respectfu lly  Subm itted ,

3

4KJIHGFEDCBA

LAW  OFFICES  OF  CONNOR  W . OLSON5

6

7

D ated : A ugust 10 , 2020 By:8
Connor W. Olson, SBN  291493  

520  Capito l M all, Suite  150  

Sacram en to , CA  95814  

connor@ cw o-law .com

9

10
Phone: 916-905-7276

11
Tiangay M. Kemokai, SBN  331807

Of Counsel
520  Capito l M all, Suite 150  

Sacram ento , CA  95814  

tia@ cwo-law .com  

Phone: 916-213-0908

;12

13

1 .4

Attorneys for  Representative Plaintiff 

and  Putative Class

15

16

I
17

18

19 ■

20.

• 5
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DEMANDZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA FOR  JURY  TRIAL

2 P lain tiff  and  the C lasses hereby  dem and  tria l by  ju ry  of  all issues triab le  as of  righ t by

3 jury.

4

5
LAW  OFFICES  OF  CONNOR  W . OLSON

6

7

8 D ated : A ugust 10 , 2020 By:

Connor W. Olson, SBN  291493  

520  Capito l M all, Suite 150  

Sacram en to , CA  95814  

con  n  or  @  c  w o  -1  a  w .  com

9

10

Phone: 916-905-7276
11

Tiangay M. Kemokai, SBN  331807

Of Counsel
520  Capito l M all, Suite 150  

Sacram ento , CA  95814  

tia@ cw o-law .com  

P hone: 916-213-0908

12

13

14

15
A ttorneys for  Representative  Plaintiff 

and  Putative Class16

■f

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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CountyZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA of San Joaquin 

180 E Weber Avenue 

Stockton, CA 95202

NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NOTICE OF HEARING

Case Number; STK-CV-UBC-2020-0006595

A Case Management Conference has been scheduled for your case as indicated below. A copy of this information must be 

provided with the complaint or petition, and with any cross-complaint that names a new party to the underlying action. 
Disregard hearing date if that date has expired.

Hearing: Case Management 
Conference

Date: 02/08/2021 

Department: 10D

Time: 8:45 AM

COURT LOCATION PHONE Numbers:JUDGE

THIS CASE HAS BEEN ASSIGNED TO JUDGE 

BARBARA KRONLUND IN DEPARTMENT 10D 

FOR ALL PURPOSES, INCLUDING TRIAL.

Stockton: 209-992-5693 

Lodi:
Stockton

209-992-5522

[ X ] ADR & Scheduling Information is available on court website @ sjcourts.org/self-help

1. You must:

a. Serve all named defendant's and file proofs of service on those defendants with the court
Within 60 days of the filing of the complaint. (CRC 3.110) ^

b. File and serve a completed Case Management Conference Statement (use of JC form CM- 
110 is mandatory) at least 15 days before the Case Management Conference.

c. Meet and Confer, in person or by telephone, to consider each of the issues identified in CRC 

3.727 no later than 30 calendar days before the date set for the Case Management 
Conference. (CRC 3.724)

d. Collection cases are managed pursuant to CRC 3.740.

2. You may appear in person or by telephone at the Case Management Conference. To make arrangements 
for telephonic appearance you must call Court Call, at (310) 572-4670 or (888) 882-6878 at least five (5) 
court dayc prior to the hearing. (See the information @ https://www.GicourtG.orQ/how-to appear- remotely civil/ for 
appearing during the COVID-19 pandemic.)

3. If this case was eFiled, the plaintiff/petitioner or their attorney must access their copy of this notice and the issued 

summons for service from the court's case management system at the following link: 
cms.sicourts.ora/fullcourtweb/start.do. Disregard hearing date if that date has expired.

4. Courtesy Copies: Courtesy copies are required for all Motions for Summary Judgment, Summary Adjudication and for 
all CEQA cases. Individual Judges/Departments have additional requirements for courtesy copies. Please review this 
information located on the public website @ https://vyww.sicourts.ora/divisions/civil/.

/isit our website @ www.sjcourts.org for more information regarding civil cases, local rules and forms 

.Date: 08/11/2020 Danielle Jeandebien Deputy Clerk

NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NOTICE OF HEARING
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Exhibit B 

Amended Class Action Complaint 

Served September 3, 2020 
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Service of Process
Transmittal
09/03/2020
CT Log Number 538199007

TO: Melissa Gravlin
Fca US LLC
1000 Chrysler Dr Ofc of
Auburn Hills, MI 48326-2766

RE: Process Served in California

FOR: FCA US LLC  (Domestic State: DE)

Page 1 of  2 / KA

Information displayed on this transmittal is for CT
Corporation's record keeping purposes only and is provided to
the recipient for quick reference. This information does not
constitute a legal opinion as to the nature of action, the
amount of damages, the answer date, or any information
contained in the documents themselves. Recipient is
responsible for interpreting said documents and for taking
appropriate action. Signatures on certified mail receipts
confirm receipt of package only, not contents.

ENCLOSED ARE COPIES OF LEGAL PROCESS RECEIVED BY THE STATUTORY AGENT OF THE ABOVE COMPANY AS FOLLOWS:
    
TITLE OF ACTION: Brian Garlough, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Pltf. vs. FCA US LLC, etc., et al., Dfts.

DOCUMENT(S) SERVED: First Amended Complaint, Demand

COURT/AGENCY: San Joaquin County - Superior Court - Stockton, CA
Case # STKCVUBC20206595

NATURE OF ACTION: Product Liability Litigation - Lemon Law - First Amended Class Action Complaint -
2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon

ON WHOM PROCESS WAS SERVED: C T Corporation System, Los Angeles, CA

DATE AND HOUR OF SERVICE: By Process Server on 09/03/2020 at 03:17

JURISDICTION SERVED : California

APPEARANCE OR ANSWER DUE: None Specified

ATTORNEY(S) / SENDER(S): Connor W. Olson
Law Offices of Connor W. Olson
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150
Sacramento, CA 95814
916-905-7276

ACTION ITEMS: CT has retained the current log, Retain Date: 09/04/2020, Expected Purge Date:
09/09/2020

Image SOP

Email Notification,  Lance Arnott  SOPVerification@wolterskluwer.com

SIGNED: C T Corporation System
ADDRESS: 1999 Bryan St Ste 900

Dallas, TX 75201-3140

For Questions: 877-564-7529
MajorAccountTeam2@wolterskluwer.com
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Service of Process
Transmittal
09/03/2020
CT Log Number 538199007

TO: Melissa Gravlin
Fca US LLC
1000 Chrysler Dr Ofc of
Auburn Hills, MI 48326-2766

RE: Process Served in California

FOR: FCA US LLC  (Domestic State: DE)

Page 2 of  2 / KA

Information displayed on this transmittal is for CT
Corporation's record keeping purposes only and is provided to
the recipient for quick reference. This information does not
constitute a legal opinion as to the nature of action, the
amount of damages, the answer date, or any information
contained in the documents themselves. Recipient is
responsible for interpreting said documents and for taking
appropriate action. Signatures on certified mail receipts
confirm receipt of package only, not contents.

 
DOCKET HISTORY:

DOCUMENT(S) SERVED: DATE AND HOUR OF SERVICE: TO: CT LOG NUMBER:

Summons, Class Action
Complaint, Demand, Notice

By Process Server on 08/19/2020 at
12:21

Melissa Gravlin
Fca US LLC

538121980
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PROCESS SERVER DELIVERY DETAILS

Date: Thu, Sep 3, 2020

Server Name: Jim Sands

Location: Sylmar, CA

Entity Served FCA US LLC

Agent Name

Case Number STK-CV-UB2020-6595

Jurisdiction CA
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Connor W. Olson SBN 291493

Law Offices of Connor W. Olson

520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150

Sacramento, CA 95814

0 flice('kwo-law.com 

Phone: 916-905-7276

Attorney for Plaintiff and Putative Class

Additional Attorneys listed on Signature Page

Ft;

T I OC 1,..)

A - r- 27

j,NIJOI; E. RILEY. CLEFi

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN JOAQUIN

BRIAN GARLOUGH, INDIVIDUALLY

AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OTHERS

SIMILARLY SITUATED

Plaintiffs,

FCA US LLC, a Delaware limited liability

company and DOES 1 through 250, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: STK-CV-UBC-2020-6595

Date: N/A

Time: N/A

Dept: N/A

UNLIMITED CIVIL CASE

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION 

COMPLAINT

I. False Advertising in Violation of

California Business & Professions

Code §§ 17500, et seq.

2. Violation of Consumer Legal

Remedies Act §§ 1750, et seq.

3. Violation of Express Warranty

Under Song-Beverly Consumer

Warrant), Act §§ 1790, et seq.

4. Violation of Implied Warranty

Under Song-Beverly Consumer

Warranty Act §§ 1790, et seq.

5. Unfair Business Practices in

Violation of California Business &

Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq.

6. Violation of Magnuson-Moss

Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et

seq.)

7. Breach of Express Warranty

8. Fraudulent Concealment

9. Negligent Misrepresentation

1 0. Unjust Enrichment

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This is a Class Action under California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, seeking

declaratory relief, injunctive relief, monetary damages, statutory and punitive damages,

equitable relief, and attorney fees and costs, under, inter alio, Unfair Business Practices in

Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seg., False Advertising in

Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq., Violation of Express

Warranty under Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (Civil Code §§ 1790, et seq.), Violation

of Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civil Code §§ 1750, et seq.), Violation of Magnuson-Moss

Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq.), Fraudulent Concealment, Negligent

Misrepresentation, and Unjust Enrichment.

2. Plaintiff Brian Garlough brings this Class Action against FCA USA LLC and

DOES 1 through 250, inclusive ("Defendants"), on behalf of himself, by and through his

attorneys, and all other owners of the 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon ("Class Vehicle" or

"Dodge Demon") to obtain relief for certain misrepresentations, a complete failure to warrant,

and a concealed defect in the 45-square-inch "functional" AirGrabberTM hood scoop ("Hood

Scoop Defect"), which caused it to warp and damage the Class Vehicle.

3. In "laymen's terms," the Hood Scoop Defect is a self-perpetuating issue caused

by a flimsy insert that expands and contracts when the Class Vehicle is used, which results in a

sagging, buckling, bulging, and vibrating insert. This in turn warps the insert and strips, cracks,

chips, and rusts the original, factory paint. Due to the Hood Scoop Defect, Dodge Demon

owners experience costly repairs, including paint repairs that do not match the factory finish,

and/or replacement of the entire hood, and/or replacement of the original hood scoop insert with

a different, visibly smaller one — all of which will significantly impact the value and future

collectability of the Class Vehicle since it will no longer be considered "original" or "to factory

specification." Ultimately, and as it stands today, Dodge Demon owners have been completely

denied the use and enjoyment of the Class Vehicle, many of which were purchased for over

$100,000.

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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4. The "Class Period" is designated as of the time from March 1; 2018 through the

date of the trial and is based upon allegations that Defendants misrepresented and concealed

material facts, failed to honor express and implied warranties, and continued to market and sell

the Dodge Demon even after it was aware of Hood Scoop Defect. The allegations are based

upon personal knowledge and belief as to their own acts, and upon information and belief (based

on investigation by Plaintiff, the Putative Class, and Counsel) as to all other matters and

allegations, Plaintiff believes substantial evidentiary support exists after a reasonable

opportunity for further investigation and discovery of evidence, as follows.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants pursuant to California

Code of Civil Procedure § 410.10 and because a substantial portion of the wrongdoing alleged

in this Complaint took place in the State of California; FCA US LLC is authorized to do

business in the State of California; and FCA US LLC has sufficient minimum contacts with the

State of California and/or otherwise intentionally avails itself of the markets in the State of

California through the production, promotion, marketing, and sale of products and services in

this State to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional

notions of fair play and substantial justice.

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over all the causes of action alleged in

this Class Action Complaint pursuant to the California Constitution, Article VI § 10, and is a

Court of competent jurisdiction to grant the relief requested. Plaintiff and the Putative Class

claims for Unfair Business Practices in Violation of California Business & Professions Code

§§ 17200, et seq., False Advertising in Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§

17500, et seq., Violation of Express Warranty under Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act §§

1790, Violation of Consumer Legal Remedies Act §§ 1750, et seq., Violation of Magnuson-

Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq.), Breach of Express Warranty, Fraudulent

Concealment, Negligent Misrepresentation, and Unjust Enrichment either arise under the law

of the State of California, or are not preempted by federal law, do not challenge conduct within

-2-
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the exclusive domain of any federal agency, and are not statutorily assigned to any other trial

court.

7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Civil Code of Procedure sections 395

and 395.5. Defendants conduct business in the County of San Joaquin. The injuries that gave

rise to this Class Action Complaint have been sustained as a result of Defendants' illegal

conduct that occurred in part in the County of San Joaquin.

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff Garlough is at all times alleged herein a citizen of the State of California.

He currently resides in Stockton, California. In 2018, Plaintiff purchased the Dodge Demon

and had it shipped to his residence in Stockton, California in the County of San Joaquin.

9. Defendants are a Delaware corporation with its headquarters in Auburn Hills,

Michigan. FCA US LLC, has twelve Northern American Regional Business Centers and Parts

Distributions Centers that are responsible for all sales, service, parts, service contracts and

dealer initiatives, one of which is located in Los Angeles. I Defendants entered into a contract

with Representative Plaintiff in the County of San Joaquin for the sale of the Dodge Demon.

10. Those Defendants identified as DOES 1 through 250, inclusive, were, at all

times herein-mentioned, business affiliates, successors, officers, directors, partners, and/or

managing agents of the Defendants. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis, alleges

that, at all times herein-mentioned, each of the Defendants identified as DOES 1 through 250,

inclusive, conduct violates various California consumer statutes, warranty statues, and common

law.

11. Plaintiff Garlough is unaware of the true names and capacities of those

Defendants sued herein as DOES 1 through 250, inclusive, and therefore sues Defendants by

fictitious names. Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint when such names

are ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and, on that basis, alleges that each of the

fictitiously-named Defendants is/was responsible in some manner for, gave consent to, ratified

I See https://mediaScanorthamerica.cominewsrelease.do?id=866
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and or authorized the conduct herein alleged and that the Plaintiff's and Class Members'

damages were proximately caused thereby,

12. Plaintiff Garlough is informed and believes and, on that basis, alleges that, at all

times herein-mentioned, each of the Defendants was the agent and or/the employee of the

remaining Defendants and, in doing the acts herein alleged, was acting within the scope of such

agency and/or employment.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

13. FCA US LLC, is a North American automaker and arguably one of the largest

in the world.

14. Starting in 2017, Defendants marketed, produced, and shipped a total of 3,300

2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demons to dealerships throughout the United States and Canada.

Although similar in appearance to other Dodge Challenger models, the Class Vehicle was

markedly different in terms of price and features, as well as advertised capabilities and future

collectability. According to Tim Kuniskis, Head of Passenger Cars for Dodge SRTs: "Nile

people who bought a Challenger SRT Demon are enthusiasts to the core. , ."2

15. Before the Class Vehicle was offered for sale, it was advertised online as "the

most-powerful muscle car ever with 840 horsepower and 770 pounds-feet of torque from its

supercharged 6.2-liter HEMI® Demon V-8 engine." (Emphasis added.)

Demon Unleashed I Challenger SRT® Demon I Dodge

7,651,463 views • Apr 11,2017 Idr 88K qi 1.9K ,4 SHARE E-74. SAVE *.•

411/1) Dodge
239K subscribers

SUBSCRIBE

The new 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT® Demon is the most-powerful muscle car ever with

840 horsepower and 770 pounds-feet of torque from its supercharged 6.2-liter HEMI®

Demon V-8 engine.

Figure 1: Video Description From Presale Advertisements
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3vD6A6NxySQ 

2 See https://mediaScanorthamerica.cominewsrelease.do?id=18679&mid=
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16. In order to create this impressive power, the Class Vehicle is cooled in part by a

specially designed and trademarked 45-square-inch "functional AirGrabberTM hood scoop,"3

which, FCA US LLC's development engineers "agreed. . . had to make a statement and still be

very functional. It had to be bold and aggressive. . .

Figure 2: Dodge Challenger SRT Demon. Image available at

https://www.dodge.ca/en_dir/pdf/2018/brochures/challenger.pdf

17. Defendants' blog confirms the obvious: the "Demon's most striking visual cues

is its massive hood scoop — the largest functional hood scoop opening offered on any production

car. Positioned optimally near the leading edge of the hood.. . ."5 Playing on this, Defendants'

"unique, three month-teaser campaign" spent considerable time promoting the one-of-a-kind

hood scoop through, among other things, specific, highly-produced online advertising.6

18. The sale of the Class Vehicle began in 2018 and was accompanied by numerous

warranties. Although the Class Vehicle came with an MSRP of approximately $85,000, due to

3 See htt_ps://blog.fcanorthamerica.com/2017/06/08/creating-the-dodge-challenger-srt-demon-v-8/

See https://blog.dodge.com/features/re-imagining-the-air-grabber-hood-scoop/index.html 

5 https://blog.dodge.com/features/re-imagining-the-air-grabber-hood-scoop/index.html 

6 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=c zw62u1a4k
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the fanfare created by the intense blitzkrieg-styled marketing campaign, including paid-for

celebrity praise a la a feature spot on "Jay Leno' Garage,"7 consumers across the country

deposited thousands of dollars to get a place in line, with many spending well over $100,000 to

ultimately purchase the "one-of-a-kind" vehicle.8

19. Shortly after the Class Vehicle was sold to the public, owners began noticing

that the 45-square-inch wide AirGrabberTM hood scoop was sagging, buckling, and bulging,

which in turn stripped, cracked, and chipped the paint on each Class Vehicle's hood. A cursory

glance of various car blogs provides an illustration.9

#5 • Jun 11,2018

Yup, as mentioned in another thread related to this very same topic, I believe the root cause is

thermal expansion (i.e., different rates of thermal expansion between the hood and plastic scoop

materials). I have the gphx. pkg. and thanks to this thread, have monitored my hood from day one.

At 29 miles I returned to the dealer to notify my service advisor of a small chip forming in the paint at

the scoop/hood interface - same place as everyone else. He agreed to note this concern & mileage

in my account for future reference as I plan to monitor the failure meanwhile hoping FCA announces

a viable solution. I also agree on the poor paint prep, which only serves to facilitate the rapid paint

failure after only a few heat cycles. Now at 129 miles the paint damage on my hood hasn't gotten

much worse than at 29 miles and I attribute this to opening the hood as soon as I return home from

driving the car to let the engine compartment & hood "breath" so as to limit the time these parts

heat soak. I did this with my HC's as well but to relieve the plastic bits & pieces form heat soaking. I

had black painted satin hoods on two of my HC's and never experienced paint failure around the

scoop inserts. In addition to the larger surface area of the Demon scoop v. HC, I'll bet the scoop

material is made from a different polymer...? So like I said, hopefully FCA devises a solution that

ideally, would include a revised scoop (plug-n-play) that has a lower coefficient of TE and perhaps

provisions for allowing a limited amount of expansion/vibration via some contoured elastomeric

interface...

#31 • Jun 22, 2018

My car just showed up with 4 miles and the paint was already scraping off. I took the scoop off,

sanded and prep it with some ARP satin black touch up paint. I have a black hood so you cant tell

its missing the scoop from a distance. Im going to keep it off till theres a resolution if any.

#38 • Jul 30, 2018

Add mine to the list of chipped hoods from the hood scoop. Car has about 1500 miles on it.

Any word yet on what dodge is planning on doing?

7 See https://www.topgear.com/car-news/big-reads/it-mad-bad-840bhp-dodge-demon and

https://www.hellcat.org/threads/demon-on-jay-leno%E2%80%99s-garage.162641/

See haps://media.fcanorthamerica.com/newsrelease.do?id=18304&mid=200 (building on its exclusivity and

future collectability, Defendants named Hagerty Insurance, the largest provider of specialty insurance for

collectible vehicles, as the official insurance provider of the Class Vehicle.)

9 See https://www.hellcat.org/threads/demon-hood-scoop-problem.210737/
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20. Unfortunately, and despite initially rolling out the red carpet to potential

customers with exclusive gifts, I° paid for celebrity praise, and a one-thousand-horsepower-

fueled marketing campaign, Defendants all but "ghosted" the Demon owners at the first sign

of chipped paint and completely failed to honor their warranties. As a result, owners were

forced to decide between the use of their vehicle or causing further damage to the hood for

which there was no fix.

21. Making matters worse, Defendants knew or should have known about the Hood

Scoop Defect had they adequately reviewed the vehicle as was advertised.12 At the very least,

Defendants knew once they received the barrage of complaints about the issue.

22. Despite the above, and nearly two years after first offering the highly touted

Dodge Demon, along with its Demon AirGrabberTM hood scoop, Defendants circulated a

Service Bulletin 23-033-19, which calls for a smaller, non-original hood scoop bezel, which is

the only part of the Demon AirGrabberTM that is visible from the outside.

23. In sum, the repair(s) offered to the class of Demon owners are not adequate and

represent an insurmountable departure from the vehicle as advertised, which itself causes

irreversible damage to the vehicle's future collectability.

FACTS SPECIFIC TO REPRESENTATIVE PLAINTIFF

24. Plaintiff Brian Garlough purchased the Dodge Demon in the summer of 2018,

spending over $100,000.00. In early August 2018, after just 75 miles, he noticed the Hood

Scoop Defect while driving the vehicle with a friend. Mr. Garlough immediately took the

Dodge Demon to the Lodi Dodge Dealership who, after inspecting the damaged hood, told Mr.

Garlough to call the Dodge hotline specific for Defendants' high-end SRT vehicles.

25. When Mr. Garlough contacted the SRT hotline, he was instructed to take his

Dodge Demon back to a dealership.

I° All customers who purchased the new 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon received a one full-day session at

Bob Bondurant School of High-performance Driving.

'To "ghost" is to "end a personal relationship with (someone) by suddenly and without explanation withdrawing

from all communication."

12 https://media.fcanorthamerica.cominewsrelease.do?id=18679&mid= ("engineers reviewed every part and

piece of the 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon to ensure it provides the ultimate in performance.")
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26. Thereafter, Mr. Garlough took his Dodge Demon to the Stockton Dodge dealer.

At this time, Debbie Petit, his main point of contact there, informed him that Dodge had

authorized the dealership to repaint the hood. When Mr. Garlough pointed out that the issue

would continue, Ms. Petit responded, "contact SRT."

27.- Mr. Garlough contacted SRT approximately three additional times between

August 2018 and the end of the year, and each time, was told that Defendants were working on

a solution.

28. Mr. Garlough once again contacted the SRT in February 2019, and was told that

Defendants were "redesigning" the hood scoop.

29. Desperate for the use of his vehicle, Mr. Garlough spent significant time and

expense attempting to obtain a repair. Without a viable fix, however, authorized dealerships

and other repair facilities refused to guarantee their work in light of the vehicle's value or were

otherwise unable to offer certified repainting.

30. On December 4, 2019, a Technical Service Bulletin was released:
wdruto.4.11...1.01.1rIamfteri

NEMER: 23.03349

GROUP: 23 . Body

DATE; Decemar 4, 22i19

• • •

This Service Bulletin is also betng oteased es finsicl Response Trynsmittel (RR1) t9.010.
December Rt. Mi. All eppUcabie Scad and Unsold RRT Was will be loaded based on
Caaarnet Contact Center roachIng tart to the impacted Was. To eerily thas RRT service
action in applicable to the ethic* we VIP or perform a VIN search In DealetCORRECTI

Senior %Amoy. NI repairs snr reimbursable sitifiln the provisions of warranty,

stow:Ern
alooll Omni is Warped ard Hood Paint is Canned or Clipperf

OVERINEVe

Tres button modem replaces; Leo rood beta inspecting the lima for pint damage and it

ritioired. relies/in IN, once hood. "

/.1DOELS:

20113 (1./1) Oodget Charleroi/ (DemOnl

ROTE: This bulartin applie• to verities within the knowing martatslcountrirra: North
*meta*,

svmProsacorairnotne
10. custemer mar *scram the frelostng

. Ito hood Mod es wooing and in some cases, chicsing the paint On the sides had comers of

the PoOd betel manna

NOTE II • Demon customer (U.S. Only) visits the diralershioptior io being contatted or

ractriving the RftT *Mitcham SRT. please hare the customer cod SRT Premium Caro
st 14S.5.2711.132* to wawa an appointment. Ask the mistime. to reference

•Rmilecing their Dimon hood lamer when calling

ROTE:

• All (U.S. Only) customers be contacted by a Customer cot. Advisor regarding UM

Service Bdllothr
. 0th. customer (U.S. Only) aromas to Mem their "reticle repaired by a thIrd party

preferred paint facility swab reimbursormot. an inspection on photos of Ow damped

paint am to be performed by the dealership. Thine customers most also receive a

new hoed bezel from It.. diralnaltlp for IrotaUation at • third party facility.

Perform the Diagnostic Procedure. Proceed to Step I al the Olagnostk Procedure.

AU (Canadian Only) cuUomer vehicles MU** be Inspected. Hoed bezels will only to
released through the Tech Rodin., Center 13:10441.2707 (English) or 1400.1$1•1202

(French).
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Fig 3: Technical Service Bulletin

31. In February 2020, Mr. Garlough was contacted by an independent repair facility

which provided a quote to repaint the hood and replace the hood scoop bezel with the redesigned

part for $3,604.00. Once again, however, the repair facility was unable to guarantee matching

paint and the $3,604.00, quote is more than double what Defendants have offered for the repair.

CLASS COMPLAINT ALLEGATIONS 

32. Plaintiff Garlough brings this Class Action on behalf of himself and a California

class (the "Class") of lessors and owners of the 2018 Dodge Challenger SRT Demon ("Class

Vehicle" or "Dodge Demon") defined as all persons in the United States and its Territories who,

during the applicable Class Period, owned or leased any new or used Class Vehicle in California.

33. Excluded from the Class are any members of the judiciary assigned to preside

over this matter, any officer, director, or employee of Defendants; and any immediate family

member of such officer, director, or employee.

34. This action has been brought and may be properly maintained as a class action

under California Code of Civil Procedure § 382 because there is a well-defined community of

interest in the litigation and the proposed class is easily ascertainable.

(a) Numerosity: A class action is the only available method for the fair and

efficient adjudication of this controversy. The members of the Class are so

numerous that joinder of all members is impractical, if not impossible, insofar as

Plaintiff is informed and believes and, on that basis, alleges that the total number

of Class members are, at least, in the hundreds, if not thousands of individuals.

Members in the Class will be determined by and upon analysis of Defendants'

customers' records including complaints, among other records maintained by

Defendants, and communications between Defendants and its Regional Business

Centers and Parts Distribution Centers and Defendants' affiliates.

(b) Commonality: Class Members share a community of interests in that there are

numerous common questions and issues of fact, all of which predominate over

any questions and issues solely affecting individual members, including, but not

necessarily limited to:

(1) Whether Defendants engaged and/or continue to engage in False

Advertising in violation of California Business & Professions Code §§

17500, et seq., by falsely advertising that the vehicle comes with 840

horsepower, that the hood scoop was functional, that performance is

not impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon, that Defendants

would honor their warranties, that the "engineers reviewed every part
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(7)

and piece," and that the Dodge Demon was "accessorized to build upon

its exclusivity and future collectability" as it relates to Plaintiff and the

Class.

(2) Whether Defendants violated and/or continue to violate Consumer

Legal Remedies Act §§ 1750, et seg., by falsely representing that the

vehicle comes with 840 horsepower, that the hood scoop was

functional, that performance is not impaired by the very use of the

Dodge Demon, that Defendants would honor their warranties, that the

"engineers reviewed every part and piece," and that the Dodge Demon

was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability"

as it relates to Plaintiff and the Class.

(3) Whether Defendants violated and/or continue to violate the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act §§ 1790 since the Dodge Demon

suffers from a nonconformity that substantially impairs its use, value,

and/or safety, which Defendants have been unable to repair as it relates

to Plaintiff and the Class.

(4) Whether Defendants violated and/or continue to violate the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act §§ 1790 since the Dodge Demon (a)

would not pass without objection in trade under the contract

description; (b) is unfit for the ordinary purposes for which the Class

Vehicles would be used; and/or (c) cannot be made to conform to the

promises or affirmations of fact made on the Dodge Demon's labeling.

Whether Defendants engaged and/or continue to engage in Unfair

Business Practices in Violation of California Business & Professions

Code §§ 17200, et seq., through its use of unfair, deceptive, untrue, or

misleading advertising as it relates to Plaintiff and the Class.

(6) Whether Defendants violated and/or continue to violate the Magnuson-

Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq.) by breaching the

express and implied warranties that the Dodge Demon was free from

defect, that the hood scoop was functional, that performance is not

impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon, that its warranty would

be honored, that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," that

the Dodge Demon was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and

future collectability," and that it was fit for its particular purpose and

workmanship as it relates to Plaintiff and the Class.

Whether Defendants breached and/or continues to breach the express

warranty that the hood scoop was functional, that performance is not

impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon, that the "engineers

reviewed every part and piece," and that the Dodge Demon was

"accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability,"

as it relates to Plaintiff and the Class.

(5)

(8) Whether Defendants engaged in and/or continue to engage in conduct

that amounts to Fraudulent Concealment in that they misrepresented
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the characteristics of the Dodge Demon and/or actively concealed

defects and other facts, as it relates to Plaintiff and the Class.

(9) Whether Defendants negligently misrepresented that the vehicle comes

with 840 horsepower, that the hood scoop was functional, that

performance is not impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon, that

Defendants would honor their warranties, that the "engineers reviewed

every part and piece," and that the Dodge Demon was "accessorized to

build upon its exclusivity and future collectability" as it relates to

Plaintiff and the Class.

(10) Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by offering a limited

production of the Dodge Demon that was marketed and sold for its

future collectability with certain attributes that were untrue and when

the Hood Scoop Defect substantially impacts the aesthetic and

performance, as it relates to the Plaintiff and the Class.

(c) Typicality: The Class claims are typical of the claims of the Plaintiff Plaintiff

and all members of the Class sustained injuries and damages arising out of and

caused by Defendants' common course of conduct in violation of state and

federal laws, as alleged herein.

(d) Superiority of Class Action: Since the damages suffered by individual class

members, while not inconsequential, may be relatively small, the expense and

burden of individual litigation by each member makes, or may make it

impractical for class members to seek redress individually for the wrongful

conduct alleged herein. Should separate actions be brought or be required to be

brought by each individual class member, the resulting multiplicity of lawsuits

would cause undue hardship and expense for the Court and the litigants. The

prosecution of separate actions would also create a risk of inconsequential rulings,

which might be dispositive of the interests of other class members who are not

parties to the adjudication and/or may substantially impede their ability to

adequately protect their interests.

(e) Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class,

in that Plaintiff's claims are typical of those of the Class. Plaintiff has the same

interests in the litigation of this case as the Class. Plaintiff is committed to

vigorous prosecution of this case, and has retained competent counsel,

experienced in litigation of this nature. Plaintiff is not subject to any individual

defenses unique from those conceivably applicable to the class as a whole.

Plaintiff anticipates no management difficulties in this litigation.
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CAUSES OF ACTION

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

False Advertising Law

(Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq.)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

35. Plaintiff individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of action

each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as though

fully set forth herein.

36. California's False Advertising Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq.)

("FAL"), prohibits unfair, deceptive, untrue, or misleading advertising. The Cal. Bus. Prof

Code § 17500 specifically prohibits:

[a]ny person . . . to make or disseminate or cause to be disseminated

from this state before the public in any state . . . in any advertising

device. . . or in any manner or means whatever, including over the

interne any statement concerning. . . personal property or services,

professional or otherwise, or performance or disposition thereof,

which is untrue or misleading and which is known or which by

exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or

misleading.

37. Defendants falsely advertised and promoted over the interne and in their

promotional materials that the Class Vehicle came standard with 840 horsepower and that the

hood scoop was functional, that it was free from defects, that performance was not impaired by

the very use of the Class Vehicle, that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," and that

the Class Vehicle was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability."

38. These advertisements, inducements and representations, on its blogs, websites,

and other promotional materials, come within the meaning of false advertising as defined in

Cal. Bus. & Prof Code §§ 17500, et seq., in so much that they were intended as inducements

for car enthusiasts to purchase the limited Dodge Demon.

39. Defendants knew or should have known that these statements were deceptive

and misleading because, among other things, the vehicle actually came standard with 808

horsepower and Defendants claimed that the engineers reviewed every part and piece. FCA

US LLC false advertisements were calculated to induce Plaintiff and Class members to
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purchase the Class Vehicle — they otherwise would not have purchased or would have

otherwise purchased the Class Vehicle for less — to increase profits and ratings.

40. Defendants' actions caused injury to Plaintiff and Class members because: a)

they would not have purchased the product if they had known that the Class Vehicle did not

have the functionality or performance features as expressly warranted by Defendants or they

would have paid substantially less for the Class Vehicle; (b) they paid a premium price for the

Class Vehicle as a result of Defendants' false warranties and misrepresentations; and (c) they

purchased a Class Vehicle that did not have the functionality, performance features, qualities,

or value promised by Defendants.

41. Defendants have improperly obtained money or else caused Plaintiff and

California to unnecessarily expend time and resources to remedy the Hood Scoop Defect

through their unfair acts and practices. Thus, Plaintiff requests that Defendants restore this

money to Plaintiff and all Class members and enjoin FCA US LLC from continuing to violate

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq., in the future.

42. Pursuant to Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1021.5, Plaintiff also requests that the Court

award reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act

(Cal. Civ. Code §§ 17500, et seq.)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

43. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

44. This cause of action is brought pursuant to the California Consumer Legal

Remedies Act ("CLRA"), Cal. Civ. Code §§ 17500, et seq.

45. Plaintiff and all Class members are "consumers" within the meaning of Cal. Civ.

Code § 1761(d).

46. The sale of the Class Vehicles to Plaintiff and the Class members were

"transactions" within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(e).
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47. The Class Vehicle purchased by Plaintiff and Class members are "goods" within

the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(a).

48. As alleged herein, Defendants falsely advertised that the vehicle came standard

with 840 horsepower and that the hood scoop was functional, that performance is not impaired

by the very use of the Class Vehicle, that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," that

the Class Vehicle was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability," and

that Defendants would honor their warranty. Specifically, Defendants violated Cal. Civ. Code

§ 1770(a)(7), which prohibits "Wepresenting that goods are of a particular standard, quality, or

grade. . ."

49. Plaintiff relied on Defendants' false representations that the Class Vehicle came

standard with 840 horsepower and that the hood scoop was functional, that performance was

not impaired by the very use of the Class Vehicle, that the "engineers reviewed every part and

piece," that the Dodge Demon was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future

collectability," and that Defendants would honor their warranty. Plaintiff would not have

purchased the Class Vehicle or would have paid significantly less for the Class Vehicle, but for

Defendants' unlawful conduct. Class members were likely to also have relied upon Defendants'

deceptive advertising and promotional materials. Plaintiff and the Class acted reasonably when

they purchased the Class Vehicle based on Defendants' false representations.

50. As a result of Defendants' false representations, Plaintiff and the members of

the Class were injured because they: a) they would not have purchased the product if they had

known that the Class Vehicle did not have the functionality or performance features as expressly

and impliedly warranted by Defendants or they would have paid substantially less for the Class

Vehicle; (b) they paid a premium price for the Class Vehicle as a result of Defendants' false

warranties and misrepresentations; and (c) they purchased a Class Vehicle that did not have the

functionality, performance features, qualities, or value promised by Defendants.

51. Under Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(a), Plaintiff and members of the Class seek

injunctive and equitable relief for Defendants' violations of the CLRA. Plaintiff has already

notified Defendants via a demand letter months ago indicating his intent to pursue claims under
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the CLRA, which has provided Defendants an opportunity to cure the unlawful practice,

consistent with Cal. Civ. Code § 1782. Since Defendants have failed to take corrective action

within 30 days of receipt of the demand letter, Plaintiff also requests damages as permitted

under Cal. Civ. Code § 1782(d).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Express Warranty Under the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act

(Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1790 et seq.)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

52. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

53. Defendants' Class Vehicle is a "consumer good" and Plaintiff and Class

members are "buyers" within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1791. Defendants are also a

"manufacturer," "distributor," or "retail seller" under Cal. Civ. Code § 1791.

54. In connection with the sale of its Class Vehicle, Defendants provided written,

oral and implied warranties, and a Basic Limited Warranty that "covers the cost of all parts and

labor needed to repair any item on [the] vehicle when it left the manufacturing plant that is

defective in material, workmanship or factory preparation. . . "during the applicable warranty

period.

55. Within the applicable warranty period, Plaintiff and Class Members delivered

the Class Vehicle to authorized repair facilities due to the Hood Scoop Defect. These authorized

repair facilities, however, were unable to conform the Class Vehicle to the applicable warranties,

depriving each individual of the use of the Class Vehicle.

56. Despite Plaintiff and other Class Members performing each and every duty

required under the terms of the warranty agreement and under the provisions of the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, Defendants failed to repair the defective and nonconforming

Class Vehicle as warranted, which suffers and continues to suffer from the defective conditions

that substantially impair the Class Vehicle's use, value and safety.
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57. Under Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1791.1(d) and 1794, Plaintiff and the proposed Class

members are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief, including, at their election,

the right to revoke acceptance of the Class Vehicle or the overpayment or diminution in value

of the Class Vehicle, and are also entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

58. Because Defendants' willful refusal to comply with the provisions of the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act is entirely unreasonable and in violation of Civil Code §§

1793.2 and 194(c), Plaintiff and the proposed Class members are entitled to penalties of up to

two times the damages.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Implied Warranty Under the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act

(Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1790 et seq.)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

59. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

60. Defendants' Class Vehicle is a "consumer good" and Plaintiff and Class

members are "buyers" within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1791. Defendants are also a

"manufacturer," "distributor," or "retail seller" under Cal. Civ. Code § 1791.

61. The express and implied warranty of merchantability included with each sale or

lease of a Class Vehicle means that Defendants warranted that the Class Vehicle (a) would pass

without objection in trade under the contract description; (b) was fit for the ordinary purposes

for which the Class Vehicle would be used; and (c) conformed to the promises or affirmations

of fact made on the Class Vehicle's labeling.

62. The Class Vehicle would not pass without objection in the automotive limited-

production trade because of the Hood Scoop Defect. Since the Class Vehicle was marketed as

an exclusive vehicle with certain attributes and future collectability, the lower horsepower

and/or the Hood Scoop Defect makes them unpassable without objection in trade under the

contract descriptions and unfit for the ordinary purposes for which such Class Vehicle was

designed.
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63. Moreover, Defendants have been provided with numerous opportunities to cure

the defects but failed to do so; the December 4,2019 Technical Service Bulletin's so-called fix

falls short and there have been no guarantees of workmanship or certification for repainting.

64. Defendants' actions have deprived Plaintiff and Class members of the benefit

of their bargain and have caused the Class Vehicle to be worth less than what they paid, as well

as substantially impairs its future use, value, and/or safety, and collectability.

65. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants breaching their duties, the

proposed Class members received the Class Vehicle with substantially impaired value. Plaintiff

and the Class members have been damaged by the diminished value of the Class Vehicle, the

Class Vehicle's malfunctioning, and actual and potential increased maintenance and repair costs.

66. Under Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1791.1(d) and 1794, Plaintiff and the proposed Class

members are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief, including, at their election,

the right to revoke acceptance of the Class Vehicle or the overpayment or diminution in value

of their Class Vehicle, and are also entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Unfair Business Practices

(Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq.,)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

67. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

68. California's Unfair Business Practices Law prohibits (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §

17200, § et seq.) ("UCL") defines unfair business practice to include "unlawful, unfair, or

fraudulent" act or practice as well as "any unfair, untrue, or misleading" advertising. A business

act is unlawful if it violates any other law or regulation.

69. A business act or practice is "unfair" under the UCL if the reasons, justifications

and motives of the alleged wrongdoer are outweighed by the gravity of the harm to the alleged

victims. A business act or practice is "fraudulent" under the UCL if it is likely to deceive
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members of the consuming public. A business act or practice is "unlawful" under the UCL if

it violates any other law or regulation.

70. Defendants have engaged in fraudulent and unfair business practices as it relates

to the marketing and sale of the Dodge Demon.

71. The business acts and practices alleged herein are unfair because they caused

Plaintiff and Class members to falsely believe that Defendants were offering a Class Vehicle

with certain horsepower and aesthetic and performance features without defect. This deception

was likely to have induced reasonable consumers, including Plaintiff, to purchase Defendants'

Class Vehicle, which they otherwise would not have purchased, or would have paid

substantially less for the Class Vehicle.

72. The gravity of the harm to Plaintiff and Class members resulting from these

unfair acts and practices outweighs any conceivable reasons, justifications and/or motives of

Defendants for engaging in such deceptive acts and practices. By committing the acts and

practices alleged herein, Defendants engaged in, and continue to engage in, unfair business

practices within the meaning of Cal. Bus. & Prof Code §§ 17200, et seq.

73. Defendants have also violated the "unlawful" prong of the UCL by violating

several California laws, as alleged herein, including the FAL and CLRA.

74. Defendants have also violated the "fraudulent" prong of the UCL by misleading

Plaintiff and Class members to believe that the Class Vehicle came standard with 840

horsepower and that the hood scoops were functional, that performance is not impaired by the

very use of the Class Vehicle, that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," and that the

Class Vehicle was "accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability."

75. As a result of Defendants' unlawful acts, Plaintiff and the members of the Class

were injured because they: a) they would not have purchased the product if they had known

that the Class Vehicle did not have the functionality or performance features as expressly

warranted by Defendants or they would have paid substantially less for the Class Vehicle; (b)

they paid a premium price for the Class Vehicle as a result of Defendants' false warranties and

misrepresentations; and (c) they purchased a Class Vehicle that did not have the functionality,
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performance features, qualities, or value promised by Defendants. Therefore, Plaintiff requests

that this Court cause Defendants to restore this money to Plaintiff and the Class, and to enjoin

Defendant from continuing to violate the UCL as alleged herein.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act)

(15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq.)

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

76. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

77. Defendants' Class Vehicles are "consumer products" within the meaning of 15

U.S.C. § 2301(1).

78. Plaintiff and the Class Members are all consumers within the meaning of 15

U.S.C. § 2301(3).

79. Defendants are suppliers and warrantors within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. §

2301(4).

80. In connection with the sale of its Class Vehicle, Defendants made

representations and provided a Basic Limited Warranty that "covers the cost of all parts and

labor needed to repair any item on [the] vehicle when it left the manufacturing plant that is

defective in material, workmanship or factory preparation. . . "during the applicable warranty

period.

81. In connection with the sale of its Class Vehicle, Defendants also gave multiple

implied warranties as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(7), including but not limited to the implied

warranty of merchantability and the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose.

82. The Class Vehicle, however, did not conform the representations and within the

applicable .warranty period, Plaintiff and Class Members delivered the Class Vehicles to

authorized repair facilities due to the Hood Scoop Defect. These authorized repair facilities,

however, were unable to conform the Class Vehicle to the applicable representations or

warranties, depriving each individual of the full use of the Class Vehicle.
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83. Despite Plaintiff and other Class Members performing each and every duty

required under the terms of the warranty agreement and under the provisions of the Magnuson-

Moss Warranty Act, Defendants failed to repair the defective and nonconforming Class Vehicle

as warranted, which suffers and continues to suffer from the defective conditions that

substantially impair the Class Vehicle's use, value and safety.

84. Defendants further breached the implied warranties, in that the Class Vehicle is

not fit for the ordinary purpose for which it was designed.

85. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants breaching their Basic Limited

Warranty and the implied warranty of merchantability, Plaintiff and the other Class Members

have been damaged in an amount exceeding $25 and are entitled to all damages, including the

diminution in value of their vehicles.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach of Express Warranty

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

86. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

87. In connection with the sale of the Class Vehicle, Defendants issued an oral,

implied and express warranty that the Dodge Demon has a functional hood scoop that could be

repaired under warranty, that performance is not impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon,

that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," and that the Dodge Demon was

"accessorized to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability."

88. Defendants' affirmation of fact and promise in the advertisements and

promotional materials that the Class Vehicle comes standard with 840 horsepower, have a

functional hood scoop, that performance is not impaired by the very use of the Dodge Demon,

that the "engineers reviewed every part and piece," that the Dodge Demon was "accessorized

to build upon its exclusivity and future collectability," and that Defendants would honor their

warranty became the basis of the bargain between Defendants and Plaintiff and the Class,
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thereby creating express warranties that the Class Vehicle would conform to Defendants'

affirmation of fact, representations, promise, and description.

89. Similarly, Defendants created written express warranties and expressly

warranted to Plaintiff, the Class and Subclass that the Class Vehicles would be of high quality,

at a minimum would work properly and comfortably, and would be free from defects and fit

for normal use. Defendants also expressly warranted that certain defects, including the Hood

Scoop Defect, would be remedied at no cost to the purchaser.

90. Defendants breached these warranties, thus denying Class Members the benefit

of their bargain. Put simply, the Class Vehicle at issue here does not live up to Defendants'

express warranties.

91. Plaintiff and the Class were injured because they: a) they would not have

purchased the product if they had known that the Class Vehicle did not have the functionality

or performance features as expressly warranted by Defendants or they would have paid

substantially less for the Class Vehicle; (b) they paid a premium price for the Class Vehicle as

a result of Defendants' false warranties and misrepresentations; and (c) they purchased a Class

Vehicle that did not have the functionality, performance features, qualities, or value promised

by Defendants.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Fraudulent Concealment

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

92. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

93. Defendants were aware of the Hood Scoop Defect when it marketed and sold

the Class Vehicle to Plaintiff and the Class. Defendants were also aware that the Class Vehicle

only had 808 horsepower and required an upgrade and racing fuel to reach 840 horsepower.

94. Having been aware of the Hood Scoop Defect in the Class Vehicle, and being

fully aware that Plaintiff and the Class members could not have reasonably been expected to

know of the Hood Scoop Defect, or the true performance measures, Defendants had a duty to
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disclose the Hood Scoop Defect to Plaintiff and the Class members in connection with the sale

or lease of the Class Vehicle.

95. Defendants materially misrepresented and/or actively concealed material facts,

such as the Hood Scoop Defect and the Class Vehicle's actual horsepower, in whole or in part,

intending to induce Plaintiff and the Class members to purchase the Class Vehicle and to

purchase those vehicles at a higher price than Plaintiff, the Class, and Subclass members

otherwise would have.

96. Plaintiff and the Class members were unaware of these omitted material facts

and would not have acted as they did if they had known of the concealed and/or suppressed

facts. Had Plaintiff and the Class members known of the Hood Scoop Defect, they would not

have purchased the Class Vehicle or would have paid substantially less for the Class Vehicles.

97. Because of the concealment and/or suppression of material facts regarding the

Class Vehicle, Plaintiff and the Class members sustained damages in an amount to be

determined at trial.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Negligent Misrepresentation

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

98. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

99. Defendants represented and led consumers to believe that the vehicle came

standard with 840 horsepower and that the hood scoop was functional, that it was free from

defects, that performance was not impaired by the very use of the Class Vehicle, that the

engineers reviewed every part and piece, and that the Dodge Demon was "accessorized to build

upon its exclusivity and future collectability."

100. Defendants knew or should have known that these statements were deceptive

and misleading at the time they were made.

101. Defendants materially misrepresented and/or actively concealed material facts,

such as the Hood Scoop Defect and the Class Vehicle's actual horsepower, in whole or in part,
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intending to induce Plaintiff and the Class members to purchase the Class Vehicle and to

purchase those vehicles at a higher price than Plaintiff and the Class members otherwise would

have.

102. Based on the above, Plaintiff and the Class members paid more for the Class

Vehicle. Plaintiff and the Class members were unaware of the truth and would not have acted

as they did if they had known of the concealed and/or otherwise misrepresented facts.

103. Because of the concealment and misrepresentation of material facts regarding

the Class Vehicle, Plaintiff and the Class members sustained damages in an amount to be

determined at trial.

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unjust Enrichment

(On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the Class)

104. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, incorporates in this cause of

action each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs, with the same force and effect as

though fully set forth herein.

105. As a result of Defendants' wrongful and deceptive conduct, Plaintiff and the

Class members have suffered a detriment while Defendants have received a benefit.

106. Plaintiff and the Class members have conferred a benefit on Defendants by

purchasing the Class Vehicle with the Hood Scoop Defect. Defendants received a premium

price benefit and/or additional sales from Plaintiff and Class members as a result of this

unlawful conduct. Defendants appreciate or have knowledge of such benefit.

107. Defendants' retention of this benefit violates principles of justice, equity, and

good conscience. Indeed, Defendants should not be allowed to retain the premium price profits

and/or additional sales generated from the sale of products that were unlawfully marketed,

advertised and promoted. Allowing Defendants to retain these unjust profits would offend

traditional notions of justice and fair play and induce companies to misrepresent key

characteristics of their products in order to increase sales.
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108. Plainly stated, it would be inequitable and unjust for Defendants to retain the

benefit of revenues obtained from purchases of its Class Vehicle, because Defendants

materially misrepresented the functionality, performance features, qualities, and value.

109. Thus, Defendants are in possession of funds that were wrongfully retained from

Plaintiff and Class members that should be disgorged as illegally gotten gains.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment as follows:

A. An order declaring that this action may be maintained as a Class Action pursuant

to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, and for an order certifying this case as a class

action and appointing Plaintiff as representative of the Class.

B. A declaration that Defendants' actions, as described herein, violate the claims

described herein;

C. An award of injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the

interests of Plaintiff and the Class, including, inter alia, an order prohibiting Defendants from

engaging in the unlawful act described above;

D. An award to Plaintiff and the Class of restitution and/or other equitable relief,

including, without limitation, disgorgement of all profits and unjust enrichment that Defendants

obtained from Plaintiff and the Class as a result of its unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business

practices described herein;

E. For judgment for Plaintiff and the Class on their claims in an amount to be

proven at trial, for compensatory damages caused by Defendant's practices; along with

exemplary damages to each Class member for each violation;

F. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided for by law or allowed

in equity;

G. For an order awarding Plaintiff and the Class their attorneys' fees and costs; and

H. Such other and further relief as may appear necessary and appropriate.
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Respectfully Submitted,

Dated: August 26, 2020

LAW OFFICES OF CONNOR W. OLSON

By: 

Connor W. Olson, SBN 291493

520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150

Sacramento, CA 95814

connor@cwo-law.com 
Phone: 916-905-7276

Tiangay M. Kernokai, SBN 331807
Attorney at Law

520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150

Sacramento, CA 95814

tkP,tiangaykemokai-law.com 
Phone: 916-213-0908

Attorneys for Representative Plaintiff

and Putative Class
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DEMAND. FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff and the Classes hereby demand trial by jury of all issues triable as of right by

jury.

Dated: August 26, 2020

LAW OFFICES OF CONNOR W. OLSON

By: 
Connor W. Olson, SBN 291493
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150
Sacramento, CA 95814

connor@cwo-law.COM 
Phone: 916-905-7276

Tiangay M. Kernokai, SBN 331807
Attorney at Law
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150
Sacramento, CA 95814
tk(cD,tiangaykemokai-law.com 
Phone: 916-213-0908

Attorneys for Representative Plaintiff

and Putative Class
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
CAPTION: GARLOUGH, ET AL v FCA US LLC 
COURT: USDC, EASTERN DISTRICT 
CASE NO:  
 
I am a citizen of the United States, over 18 years of age, employed in Sacramento County, and not a 
party to the within action; my business address is 1 Natoma Street, Folsom, California, 95630. 
 
On September 18, 2020, I served, in the manner indicated below, the foregoing document described 
as: 
 
FCA US LLC’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL; DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 
to the parties in this action by placing true copies thereof, enclosed in sealed envelopes, addressed as 
follows: 
 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 
 
Connor W. Olson, Esq. 
Tiangay M. Kemokai, Esq. 
Law Offices of Connor W. Olson 
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 150 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
916-905-7276 
office@cwo-law.com 
 

 

 
 
XXX BY ELECTRONIC FILING with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF System, which 

will sent a Notice of Electronic Filing to all parties with an e-mail address of record, who have 
filed a Notice of Consent to Electronic Service in this action. 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury, under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is true and 
correct, and that this certificate was executed on September 18, 2020, at Folsom, California.  
 
 
 
       _____________________________ 
       Dawne M. Camilleri 
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